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Internet Gambling 
 

Internet Background Information 
  

The internet is essentially a world wide connection of electronic devices using a 

common basic communications protocols.  The common protocols that bind all network 

devices of the internet are the Transmission Control Protocol and Internet Protocol or 

collectively the TCP/IP protocol.   

There are many attributes and components of the TCP/IP protocol, but this text 

will only address a few high level attributes of the protocol as background for 

understanding the internet and its relationship to law and gambling laws in particular.   

First, devices using the TCP/IP protocol are either assigned an IP address.1  The IP 

address is attached to each instance of communication sent and received by a networked 

device.  To route information between addresses, the internet uses a series of devices 

known as routers.  Routers keep track of where devices are connected and route traffic 

from router to router to device to complete the communications circuit. 

The following may illustrate the concepts presented above more clearly: 

 
 

1 To see the IP address of your computer when to a local network you can enter the following: 
  For windows machines, run the command line terminal program (CMD).  When the command prompt is 
shown, type in ipconfig.  This will cause the PC to list the IP addresses associated with the machine. 
For Mac users, run the Network Utility application in the Utility Folder of the Applications Folder, your IP 
address will be presented on the Info tab. 
To see your IP address as reported on the internet, search Google or type in the following address in your 
favorite browser: http://www.raynersoftware.com/my_ip.php?all_headers=TRUE 
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The illustration is of a small home network with a laptop, router, desktop and 

printer.  This is a common home network setup where a person wants to share their 

desktop printer with their laptop computer.  The router will issue IP addresses for the 

laptop and desktop, then control the flow of information between the two computers 

using their issued addresses. 

 

The basic model for creating network traffic is the client/server model.  In the 

above example, the laptop will issue a request to the desktop to print a document.  The 

router makes sure that the network traffic flows to the proper device. The devices will 

send a series of requests and responses to complete the transaction of printing from the 

laptop to the printer attached to the desktop computer. 

Because the networking protocol is indifferent to the type of device connected to 

the network, it is possible to use a network connected printers rather than sharing a 

printer connected to a particular PC.  Use of such a network printer would be represented 

by the following illustration: 
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The client/server model of network traffic continues as above.  However, instead 

of the laptop making requests to the desktop, the request will go directly to the printer 

that is connected to the router. 

Though not illustrated above, the router itself has an IP address.  If the home user 

decided to connect their home network to the internet, the model scales to accommodate.  

When connecting to the internet, the internet service provider (ISP) will provide the IP 

address for the router via a modem (Cable modem, telephone modem, DLS modem).  

The ISP will route network traffic between the modem and the internet, and the router 

will route network traffic on the local network.  The following illustrates this next step in 

the scale of the network: 

 

In the example illustration above, the router gets its own IP address from the ISP 

then translates IP addresses for traffic between the local network devices and the wider 

ISP network and internet. 

While this example focused on a home network, the same principles apply to all 

internet networking.  Devices get addresses and routers route traffic between addresses.  
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Networks are part of networks that are connected to other networks in which information 

is routed between devices, networks and routers.   

 

The breadth of the internet continues to increase as new devices incorporate 

TCP/IP compatible networking protocols.  In addition to traditional computing devices, 

many other devices such as home game consoles2, cellular phones3, home telephones4, 

set top movie boxes5 and televisions6 are adding internet network connectivity.   The rush 

 
2 The Sega Dreamcast, XBOX, XBOX 360, Nintendo Wii and Sony PS3 all incorporate the ability to 
connect to the internet and interact with internet devices. 
3 Many 2G and 3G phones such as the Apple iPhone, the T-Mobile G1, Windows Mobile 6 phones and 
newer Blackberry devices have the capability to connect to and interact with the internet. 
4 Voice over IP (VoIP) is becoming a common replacement for standard land line service. VoIP services, 
like those from Vonage, Time Warner, Comcast and Cox use internet protocols and the internet to transmit 
voice data and call data. 
5 In 2006, Apple introduced Apple TV to permit the purchase or rental of movies delivered through the 
internet. In 2008, Netflix introduced a set top movies on demand box that used internet connectivity to 
select and transit movies.   
6 In 2008, LG and Sony introduced televisions that incorporated internet connectivity for showing 
televisions programming data and streaming video from sites such as YouTube and Hulu. 
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to add more internet connected devices has also led to some bizarre result such as internet 

connected refrigerators and other appliances. 

The Legal Tension 
  

Because the internet as the interconnection of devices and networks using a 

common protocol or language, the internet is not itself bound by geographical constraints.  

It is really a collection of dispersed hardware, software and signals, rather than a physical 

object.   

 On the other hand, laws and regulations are specific to geographically bound 

areas.  City of Las Vegas ordinances apply within the geographic boundaries of the city.  

Clark County ordinances apply within the geographic boundaries of the county.  Nevada 

statutes and regulations apply within the geographic boundaries of the state.  United 

States laws apply within the territory of the country. 

 This fundamental difference in landscape creates significant tension with regard 

to application of geographic based laws to activities that are not geographically bound. 

The Significance for Gaming 
 
Most gaming laws were drafted at a time when physical presence was required to 

engage in gambling activities other than sports wagering.  In the 1960s, when many 

federal gaming statutes were enacted, there was no way to remotely wager on poker, 

black jack, slots and other forms of gambling.  In the 1960s, it would have been science 

fiction to believe that a person sitting in Minnesota could place a wager in a poker game 

with players sitting in California, Canada, Oklahoma, Vermont, and Florida on a table 

being run from the Kahnawake nation outside of Montreal, Canada.  
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In 2009, the occurrence described above seems perfectly plausible.   

Federal & Online Gaming in The U.S.A. 
 
 The United States has a federalist system of government, where sovereignty is 

divided between the central federal government and the government of the states.  With 

regard to gaming, most of the legal authority governing the 

regulation or prohibition of gaming activities resides with the 

states.  However, the federal government has asserted 

concurrent jurisdiction over activities that occur, or can 

occur, across state and international boundaries.   

Because state law is the primary law governing gaming activities, the legal landscape of 

regulated and prohibited gambling in the United States is complex.  Most states have 

unique gambling laws and prohibitions and a body of disparate court opinions that further 

complicate the analysis of any gaming activity that can or does occur on a national basis.  

To complicate matters even further, American Indian tribes also have limited sovereignty 

over gaming activities that occur within Indian lands.  Therefore, certain gaming 

activities that are prohibited within a state may still occur on Indian lands within a state 

based on tribal sovereignty. 

Federal Laws 
Federal laws regarding gaming are generally limited to the following subjects: 
1. American Indian gaming 
2. Sports wagering 
3. Assisting states in enforcing criminal gambling prohibitions that occur in 

interstate or foreign commerce 
4. Interstate horseracing  
5. State lotteries 
6. Funds transfers related to online wagering 
7. The transportation of gaming equipment 
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In addition, other laws regarding financial transactions, money laundering, bank fraud 

and tax evasion are often used to prosecute gambling businesses that violate any of these 

laws. 

For the purposes of the discussion at this meeting we will focus only on the 

primary federal laws that are the focus of recent U.S. Department of Justice (“DOJ”) 

actions and opinions, namely, the Federal Wire Act, the Illegal Gambling Business Act 

and the Unlawful Internet Gambling Enforcement Act. 

The Federal Wire Act 

The Federal Wire Act is often the most cited U.S. law applicable to online gaming 

activities.   The Federal Wire Act, along with several other laws, was a part of the 1961 

federal legislative package designed to cut off those activities that profited organized 

crime and to assist the states in enforcing their gambling laws.  The Federal Wire Act, 

codified as 18 U.S.C. §1084, generally prohibits the use of interstate electronic 

communications facilities for conducting certain forms of gambling.  The core elements 

of the statute are provided as follows: 

18 U.S.C. §1084 Transmission of wagering information; penalties 

(a) Whoever being engaged in the business of betting or wagering knowingly 

uses a wire communication facility for the transmission in interstate or foreign 

commerce of bets or wagers or information assisting in the placing of bets or 

wagers on any sporting event or contest, or for the transmission of a wire 

communication which entitles the recipient to receive money or credit as a 

result of bets or wagers, or for information assisting in the placing of bets or 



 Page 8 
 

wagers, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than two years, 

or both. 

(b) Nothing in this section shall be construed to prevent the transmission in 

interstate or foreign commerce of information for use in news reporting of 

sporting events or contests, or for the transmission of information assisting in 

the placing of bets or wagers on a sporting event or contest from a State or 

foreign country where betting on that sporting event or contest is legal into a 

State or foreign country in which such betting is legal. 

(c) Nothing contained in this section shall create immunity from criminal 

prosecution under any laws of any State. 

... 

(e) As used in this section, the term “State” means a State of the United States, 

the District of Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, or a 

commonwealth, territory or possession of the United States 

Application to Online Gaming 
 

The Federal Wire Act has been used in the prosecution of several defendants 

related to online sports book activities.   The most cited of these is the Jay Cohen case.i  

Jay Cohen was a founder and manager at World Sports Exchange (“WSX”).  WSX was a 

licensed sports book in Antigua that was permitted under its Antigua license to take 

international online and telephone sports wagers.ii  The Cohen opinion affirmed that the 

Federal Wire Act applied to online and internet wagering and that the long held 
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interpretation of a bet as occurring in both the jurisdiction of the location of the bettor and 

the bookmaker also applied to internet wagering. 

Online Gambling 

The Jay Cohen Case Court Opinion 
Briefs and Other Related Documents 
 

United States Court of Appeals, 
 

Second Circuit. 
 

UNITED STATES of America, Appellee, 
v. 

Jay COHEN, Defendant Appellant. 
Docket No. 00-1574. 

 
Argued:  May 21, 2001. 

 
Decided:  July 31, 2001. 

 
  Defendant was convicted in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New 
York, Thomas P. Griesa, J., of conspiracy and substantive violations of statute prohibiting 
transmission of bets in interstate or foreign commerce, and he appealed. The Court of Appeals, 
Keenan, District Judge, sitting by designation, held that: (1) conspiracy conviction did not require 
proof of defendant's corrupt motive; (2) transmissions from customers did not fall within safe 
harbor for transmissions limited to mere information that assisted in placing of bets; and (3) rule 
of lenity did not require reversal of defendant's convictions. 
 
  Affirmed. 
 
 
Joseph V. DeMarco, Assistant United States Attorney for Mary Jo White, United States Attorney 
for the Southern District of New York (Assistant United States Attorney George S. Canellos, New 
York, NY, on the brief), for Appellee. 
 
  Mark M. Baker, New York, N.Y. (Brafman & Ross, P.C., Benjamin Brafman, Jennifer Liang, and 
Melinda Sarafa on the brief) for Defendant- Appellant. 
 
  Before:  LEVAL and PARKER, Circuit Judges, and KEENAN, [FN*] District Judge. 
 
      FN* The Honorable John F. Keenan, United States District Judge for the Southern District of 
New York, sitting by designation. 
 
  KEENAN, District Judge: 
 

  BACKGROUND  
  In 1996, the Defendant, Jay Cohen ("Cohen") was young, bright, and enjoyed a lucrative 
position at Group One, a San Francisco firm that traded in options and derivatives.   That was not 
all to last, for by 1996 the Internet revolution was in the speed lane.   Inspired by the new 
technology and its potential, Cohen decided to pursue the dream of owning his own e-business.   
By year's end he had left his job at Group One, moved to the Caribbean island of Antigua, and 
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had become a bookmaker. 
 
  Cohen, as President, and his partners, all American citizens, dubbed their new venture the 
World Sports Exchange ("WSE").   WSE's sole business involved bookmaking on American 
sports events, and was purportedly patterned after New York's Off-Track Betting Corporation. 
[FN2]  WSE targeted customers in the United States, advertising its business throughout America 
by radio, newspaper, and television.   Its advertisements invited customers to bet with WSE either 
by toll-free telephone or by internet. 
 
      FN2. We note, however, that the Off-Track Betting Corporation's business is limited to taking 
bets on horseracing, not other sporting events. 
 
  WSE operated an "account-wagering" system.   It required that its new customers first open an 
account with WSE and wire at least $300 into that account in Antigua.   A customer seeking to bet 
would then contact WSE either by telephone or internet to request a particular bet.   WSE would 
issue an immediate, automatic acceptance and confirmation of that bet, and would maintain the 
bet from that customer's account. 
 
  In one fifteen-month period, WSE collected approximately $5.3 million in funds wired from 
customers in the United States.   In addition, WSE would typically retain a "vig" or commission of 
10% on each bet.   Cohen boasted that in its first year of operation, WSE had already attracted 
nearly 1,600 customers.   By November 1998, WSE had received 60,000 phone calls from 
customers in the United States, including over 6,100 from New York. 
 
  In the course of an FBI investigation of offshore bookmakers, FBI agents in New York contacted 
WSE by telephone and internet numerous times between October 1997 and March 1998 to open 
accounts and place bets.   Cohen was arrested in March 1998 under an eight-count indictment 
charging him with conspiracy and substantive offenses in violation of 18 U.S.C. §  1084 ("§  
1084").   That statute reads as follows: 

 (a) Whoever being engaged in the business of betting or wagering knowingly uses a wire 
communication facility for the transmission in interstate or foreign commerce of bets or 
wagers or information assisting in the placing of bets or wagers on any sporting event or 
contest, or for the transmission of a wire communication which entitles the recipient to 
receive money or credit as a result of bets or wagers, or for information assisting in the 
placing of bets or wagers, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than two 
years, or both. 
 (b) Nothing in this section shall be construed to prevent the transmission in interstate or 
foreign commerce of information for use in news reporting of sporting events or contests, 
or for the transmission of information assisting in the placing of bets or wagers on a 
sporting event or contest from a State or foreign country where betting on that sporting 
event or contest is legal into a State or foreign country in which such betting is legal. 

  See §  1084(a)-(b).   In the conspiracy count (Count One) and in five of the seven substantive 
counts (Counts Three through Six, and Eight), Cohen was charged with violating all three 
prohibitive clauses of §  1084(a) ((1) transmission in interstate or foreign commerce of bets or 
wagers, (2) transmission of a wire communication which entitles the recipient to receive money or 
credit as a result of bets or wagers, (3) information assisting in the placement of bets or wagers).   
In two counts, Counts Two and Seven, he was charged only with transmitting "information 
assisting in the placing of bets or wagers." 
 
  Cohen was convicted on all eight counts on February 28, 2000 after a ten-day jury trial before 
Judge Thomas P. Griesa.   The jury found in special interrogatories that Cohen had violated all 
three prohibitive clauses of §  1084(a) with respect to the five counts in which those violations 
were charged.   Judge Griesa sentenced Cohen on August 10, 2000 to a term of twenty- one 
months' imprisonment.   He has remained on bail pending the outcome of this appeal. 
 

  DISCUSSION  
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  On appeal, Cohen asks this Court to consider the following six issues:  (1) whether the 
Government was required to prove a "corrupt motive" in connection with the conspiracy in this 
case;  (2) whether the district court properly instructed the jury to disregard the safe-harbor 
provision contained in §  1084(b);  (3) whether Cohen "knowingly" violated §  1084;  (4) whether 
the rule of lenity requires a reversal of Cohen's convictions;  (5) whether the district court 
constructively amended Cohen's indictment in giving its jury instructions;  and (6) whether the 
district court abused its discretion by denying Cohen's request to depose a foreign witness.   We 
will address those issues in that order. 
 
  I Corrupt Motive  
 
  Cohen appeals his conspiracy conviction on the grounds that the district court instructed the jury 
to disregard his alleged good-faith belief about the legality of his conduct.   He argues that People 
v. Powell, 63 N.Y. 88 (1875), requires proof of a corrupt motive for any conspiracy to commit an 
offense that is malum prohibitum, rather than malum in se.   We disagree, and we hold that 
whatever remains of Powell does not apply to this case. 
 
  In 1875, the New York Court of Appeals ruled in Powell that a conspiracy to commit an offense 
that was "innocent in itself" required evidence of a "corrupt" or "evil purpose."  Id. at 92.   The 
Powell defendants were commissioners of charities for Kings County and had been convicted of 
conspiring to violate state law by purchasing supplies without first advertising for proposals and 
awarding a contract to the lowest bidder.  Id. at 89-90. 
 
  The Powell Court upheld an appellate court's reversal of the trial court, which had ruled that 
ignorance of the law was no defense to conspiracy.  Id. at 89.   In doing so, the Court concluded 
that a conspiracy offense, by nature, required some form of corrupt motive, even if its underlying 
substantive offense required only an intent to commit the prohibited act.  Id. at 92.  The Court 
stated that "[p]ersons who agree to do an act innocent in itself, in good faith and without the use 
of criminal means, are not converted into conspirators [] because it turns out that the 
contemplated act was prohibited by statute."  Id.  
 
  The Powell doctrine was echoed in federal cases from the first half of the last century, but many 
circuits have since, in effect, moved away from the doctrine.   Compare, e.g., Landen v. United 
States, 299 F. 75 (6th Cir.1924) (applying Powell to drug wholesalers' conspiracy to sell 
intoxicating liquor for nonbeverage purposes without the necessary permit), with United States v. 
Blair, 54 F.3d 639 (10th Cir.1995) (involving, as does this case, offshore bookmaking in violation 
of §  1084);  United States v. Murray, 928 F.2d 1242 (1st Cir.1991) (involving an illegal gambling 
business in violation of 18 U.S.C. §  1955);  United States v. Thomas, 887 F.2d 1341 (9th 
Cir.1989) (involving trafficking in wildlife that the defendant should have known was taken in 
violation of state law). 
 
  Although this Court has long expressed its discontent with the Powell  doctrine, we have done 
so in dicta in cases involving conspiracies to commit acts that were not "innocent in themselves."   
See, e.g., United States v. Mack, 112 F.2d 290, 292 (2d Cir.1940).   In Mack, Judge Learned 
Hand criticized the Powell doctrine as "anomalous" and questioned "why more proof should be 
necessary than that the parties had in contemplation all the elements of the crime they are 
charged with conspiracy to commit." Id. He nevertheless found " 'corrupt motive' in abundance" in 
connection with the defendant's conspiracy to employ unregistered alien prostitutes.  Id.;  see 
also United States v. Eisenberg, 596 F.2d 522, 526 (2d Cir.1979) ("It being clearly established 
that requisite knowledge was proved for conviction of the substantive offense, it now follows that 
the same knowledge is enough as well to establish the conspiracy to commit the substantive 
offense.");  Hamburg- American Steam Packet Co. v. United States, 250 F. 747, 759 (2d 
Cir.1918) ( "[W]e are satisfied that as to the crime of conspiracy, ... it is not necessary to show 
that the defendants who are alleged to have conspired to do an act which is only malum 
prohibitum had knowledge of the unlawfulness of the act.") 
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  The American Law Institute has expressly rejected Powell in its commentary to the Model Penal 
Code.   See Model Penal Code §  5.03 note on subsec. 1 & cmt. 2(c)(iii) (1985).   The Institute 
noted that the "melodramatic and sinister view of conspiracy" upon which Powell was premised is 
no longer valid.  Id. at cmt. 2(c)(iii).   It further observed that Powell now has "little resolving power 
in particular cases" and instead "serves mainly to divert attention from clear analysis of the mens 
rea requirements of conspiracy."  Id.  
 
  In the Institute's view, the Powell doctrine was essentially "a judicial endeavor to import fair 
mens rea requirements into statutes creating regulatory offenses that do not rest on traditional 
concepts of personal fault and culpability."   See id.   The Institute itself disagreed with that policy, 
however, concluding that it was a function better left to the statutes themselves.  Id.  
 
 In United States v. Feola, 420 U.S. 671, 95 S.Ct. 1255, 43 L.Ed.2d 541 (1975), the Supreme 
Court, in another context, rejected the notion that a federal conspiracy conviction required proof 
of scienter.   We conclude that the Powell doctrine does not apply to a conspiracy to violate 18 
U.S.C. §  1084. 
 
  II The Safe Harbor Provision  
 
  Cohen appeals the district court for instructing the jury to disregard the safe-harbor provision 
contained in §  1084(b).   That subsection provides a safe harbor for transmissions that occur 
under both of the following two conditions:  (1) betting is legal in both the place of origin and the 
destination of the transmission;  and (2) the transmission is limited to mere information that 
assists in the placing of bets, as opposed to including the bets themselves.   See §  1084(b). 
 
  The district court ruled as a matter of law that the safe-harbor provision did not apply because 
neither of the two conditions existed in the case of WSE's transmissions.   Cohen disputes that 
ruling and argues that both conditions did, in fact, exist.   He argues that betting is not only legal 
in Antigua, it is also "legal" in New York for the purposes of §  1084.   He also argues that all of 
WSE's transmissions were limited to mere information assisting in the placing of bets.   We agree 
with the district court's rulings on both issues. 
 
  A. "Legal" Betting  
 
There can be no dispute that betting is illegal in New York. New York has expressly prohibited 
betting in both its Constitution, see N.Y. Const. art. I, §  9 ("no ... bookmaking, or any other kind of 
gambling [with certain exceptions pertaining to lotteries and horseracing] shall hereafter be 
authorized or allowed within this state"), and its General Obligations Law, see N.Y. Gen. Oblig. L. 
§  5-401 ("[a]ll wagers, bets or stakes, made to depend on any race, or upon any gaming by lot or 
chance, or upon any lot, chance, casualty, or unknown or contingent event whatever, shall be 
unlawful");  see also Cohen v. Iuzzini, 25 A.D.2d 878, 270 N.Y.S.2d 278, 279 (1966) (ruling that 
the predecessor statute to N.Y. Gen. Oblig. L. §  5-401 (N.Y. Penal L. §  991) did not apply to 
bets executed at recognized pari-mutuel tracks). Nevertheless, Cohen argues that Congress 
intended for the safe-harbor provision in §  1084(b) to exclude only those transmissions sent to or 
from jurisdictions in which betting was a crime.   Cohen concludes that because the placing of 
bets is not a crime in New York, it is "legal" for the purposes of §  1084(b). 
 
  By its plain terms, the safe-harbor provision requires that betting be "legal," i.e., permitted by 
law, in both jurisdictions.   See §  1084(b); see also Black's Law Dictionary 902 (7th ed. 1999);  
Webster's 3d New Int'l Dictionary 1290 (1993).   The plain meaning of a statute "should be 
conclusive, except in the rare cases in which the literal application of a statute will produce a 
result demonstrably at odds with the intentions of its drafters." United States v. Ron Pair Enters., 
Inc., 489 U.S. 235, 242, 109 S.Ct. 1026, 103 L.Ed.2d 290 (1989) (alteration and internal quotation 
marks omitted).  This is not the rare case. 
 
 Although, as Cohen notes, the First Circuit has stated that Congress "did not intend [for §  1084] 
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to criminalize acts that neither the affected states nor Congress itself deemed criminal in nature," 
it did not do so in the context of a §  1084 prosecution.   See Sterling Suffolk Racecourse Ltd. 
P'ship v. Burrillville Racing Ass'n, 989 F.2d 1266, 1273 (1st Cir.1993).   Instead, that case 
involved a private bid for an injunction under RICO (18 U.S.C. §  1961 et seq.) and the Interstate 
Horseracing Act (15 U.S.C. § §  3001-07) ("IHA").  Id. at 1272-73.   It does not stand for the 
proposition that §  1084 permits betting that is illegal as long as it is not criminal. 
 
  In Sterling, the defendant was an OTB office in Rhode Island that accepted bets on horse races 
from distant tracks and broadcasted the races.  Id. at 1267.   The office typically obtained the 
various consents required under the IHA, i.e., from the host track, the host racing commission, 
and its own racing commission.  Id. However, it would often neglect to secure the consent of the 
plaintiff, a live horse-racing track located within the statutory sixty-mile radius from the OTB office.  
Id. at 1268.   The plaintiff sought an injunction against the OTB office under RICO, alleging that it 
was engaged in a pattern of racketeering activity by violating §  1084 through its noncompliance 
with the IHA. Id.  
 
  The Sterling court affirmed the district court's denial of the RICO injunction.  Id. at 1273.   It 
noted first that because the OTB office's business was legitimate under all applicable state laws, 
it fell under the safe-harbor provision in §  1084(b).  Id. Furthermore, the court held that in 
enacting the IHA, Congress had only created a private right of action for damages on the part of 
certain parties;  it did not intend for any Government enforcement of the IHA. Id. Consequently, 
the plaintiff could not use the IHA together with §  1084 to transform an otherwise legal OTB 
business into a criminal racketeering enterprise.  Id.  
 
  Neither Sterling nor the legislative history behind §  1084 demonstrates that Congress intended 
for §  1084(b) to mean anything other than what it says. [FN3]  Betting is illegal in New York, and 
thus the safe-harbor provision in §  1084(b) cannot not apply in Cohen's case as a matter of law. 
As a result, the district court was not in error when it instructed the jury to disregard that provision. 
 
      FN3. In support of his Congressional intent argument, Cohen offers two passages from the 
Congressional Reports, neither of which is persuasive.   Together, the two passages evidence an 
intent to assist the states in enforcing gambling "offenses" and in suppressing "organized 
gambling activities" without preempting the states' own prosecutions of those offenses.   
Compare H.R. Rep. No. 87-967 (1961), reprinted in 1961 U.S.C.C.A.N 2631, 2631, with id. at 
2633.   Those passages do not demonstrate an intent to exclude illegal yet non-criminal gambling 
activity from the statute's purview. 
 
  B. Transmission of a Bet, Per Se  
 
  Cohen appeals the district court's instructions to the jury regarding what constitutes a bet per se.   
Cohen argues that under WSE's account-wagering system, the transmissions between WSE and 
its customers contained only information that enabled WSE itself to place bets entirely from 
customer accounts located in Antigua.   He argues that this fact was precluded by the district 
court's instructions.   We find no error in those instructions. 
 
  Judge Griesa repeatedly charged the jury as follows: 

 If there was a telephone call or an internet transmission between New York and [WSE] in 
Antigua, and if a person in New York said or signaled that he or she wanted to place a 
specified bet, and if a person on an internet device or a telephone said or signaled that 
the bet was accepted, this was the transmission of a bet within the meaning of Section 
1084.   Congress clearly did not intend to have this statute be made inapplicable because 
the party in a foreign gambling business deemed or construed the transmission as only 
starting with an employee or an internet mechanism located on the premises in the 
foreign country. 

 
  Jury instructions are not improper simply because they resemble the conduct alleged to have 
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occurred in a given case;  nor were they improper in this case.   It was the Government's burden 
in this case to prove that someone in New York signaled an offer to place a particular bet and that 
someone at WSE signaled an acceptance of that offer.   The jury concluded that the Government 
had carried that burden. 
 
  Most of the cases that Cohen cites in support of the proposition that WSE did not transmit any 
bets involved problems pertaining either to proof of the acceptance of transmitted bets, see 
United States v. Truesdale, 152 F.3d 443 (5th Cir.1998), McQuesten v. Steinmetz, 73 N.H. 9, 58 
A. 876 (1904), Lescallett v. Commonwealth, 89 Va. 878, 17 S.E. 546 (1893), or to proof of the 
locus of a betting business for taxation purposes, see Saratoga Harness Racing, Inc. v. City of 
Saratoga Springs, 55 A.D.2d 295, 390 N.Y.S.2d 240 (1976). 
 
  No such problems existed in this case.   This case was never about taxation, and there can be 
no dispute regarding WSE's acceptance of customers' bet requests.   For example, a March 18, 
1998 conversation between Spencer Hanson, a WSE employee, and a New York-based 
undercover FBI agent occurred as follows: 

 Agent:  Can I place a bet right now? 
 Hanson:  You can place a bet right now. 
 Agent:  Alright, can you give me the line on the um Penn State/Georgia Tech game, it's 
the NIT [T]hird Round game tonight. 
 Hanson:  Its [sic] Georgia Tech minus 7 1/2 , total is 147. 
 Agent:  Georgia [T]ech minus 7 1/2 , umm I wanna take Georgia Tech. Can I take 'em for 
50? 
 Hanson:  Sure. 

 WSE could only book the bets that its customers requested and authorized it to book.   By 
making those requests and having them accepted, WSE's customers were placing bets.   So long 
as the customers' accounts were in good standing, WSE accepted those bets as a matter of 
course. 
 
Moreover, the issue is immaterial in light of the fact that betting is illegal in New York. Section 
1084(a) prohibits the transmission of information assisting in the placing of bets as well as the 
transmission of bets themselves.   This issue, therefore, pertains only to the applicability of §  
1084(b)'s safe-harbor provision.   As we have noted, that safe harbor excludes not only the 
transmission of bets, but also the transmission of betting information to or from a jurisdiction in 
which betting is illegal.   As a result, that provision is inapplicable here even if WSE had only ever 
transmitted betting information. 
 
  III Cohen's Mens Rea  
 
  Cohen appeals the district court's instruction to the jury regarding the requisite mens rea under §  
1084.  Section 1084 prohibits the "knowing" transmission of bets or information assisting in the 
placing of bets.   See  §  1084(a).   The district court instructed the jurors that to convict, they 
needed only to find that Cohen "knew that the deeds described in the statute as being prohibited 
were being done," and that a misinterpretation of the law, like ignorance of the law, was no 
excuse. 
 
  Cohen argues that he lacked the requisite mens rea because (1) he did not "knowingly" transmit 
bets, and (2) he did not transmit information assisting in the placing of bets or wagers to or from a 
jurisdiction in which he "knew" betting was illegal.   He contends that in giving its jury charge, the 
district court improperly instructed the jury to disregard that argument. 
 
  The district court was correct;  it mattered only that Cohen knowingly committed the deeds 
forbidden by §  1084, not that he intended to violate the statute.   See Bryan v. United States, 524 
U.S. 184, 193, 118 S.Ct. 1939, 141 L.Ed.2d 197 (1998).   Cohen's own interpretation regarding 
what constituted a bet was irrelevant to the issue of his mens rea under §  1084. 
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 In any event, Cohen is culpable under §  1084(a) by admitting that he knowingly transmitted 
information assisting in the placing of bets.   His beliefs regarding the legality of betting in New 
York are immaterial.   The legality of betting in a relevant jurisdiction pertains only to §  1084(b)'s 
safe-harbor provision.   As we have already discussed, that safe-harbor provision, as a matter of 
law, does not apply in this case. 
 
  IV Rule of Lenity  
 
  Cohen argues that the rule of lenity, a concept grounded in due process, requires a reversal of 
his convictions.   According to Cohen, §  1084 is too unclear to provide fair warning of what 
conduct it prohibits.   In particular, he contends that the statute does not provide fair warning with 
respect to (1) whether the phrase "bet or wager" includes account wagering, (2) whether 
"transmission" includes the receiving of information as well as the sending of it, and (3) whether 
betting must be legal or merely non-criminal in a particular jurisdiction in order to be considered 
"legal" in that jurisdiction.   None of these contentions has any merit. 
 
 The rule of lenity applies where there exists a "grievous ambiguity" in a statute, see Huddleston 
v. United States, 415 U.S. 814, 831, 94 S.Ct. 1262, 39 L.Ed.2d 782 (1974), such that "after 
seizing everything from which aid can be derived, [a court] can make no more than a guess as to 
what Congress intended."  Reno v. Koray, 515 U.S. 50, 65, 115 S.Ct. 2021, 132 L.Ed.2d 46 
(1995) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).   The rule exists to prevent courts from 
"applying a novel construction of a criminal statute to conduct that neither the statute nor any 
prior judicial decision has fairly disclosed to be within its scope."  United States v. Lanier, 520 
U.S. 259, 266-67, 117 S.Ct. 1219, 137 L.Ed.2d 432 (1997). 
 
 We need not guess whether the provisions of §  1084 apply to Cohen's conduct because it is 
clear that they do.   First, account-wagering is wagering nonetheless;  a customer requests a 
particular bet with WSE by telephone or internet and WSE accepts that bet.   WSE's requirement 
that its customers maintain fully-funded accounts does not obscure that fact. 
 
  Second, Cohen established two forms of wire facilities, internet and telephone, which he 
marketed to the public for the express purpose of transmitting bets and betting information.   
Cohen subsequently received such transmissions from customers, and, in turn, sent such 
transmissions back to those customers in various forms, including in the form of acceptances and 
confirmations.   No matter what spin he puts on "transmission," his conduct violated the statute. 
 
  Third, it is clear to lawyer and layman alike that an act must be permitted by law in order for it to 
be legal.   See Black's Law Dictionary 902 (7th ed. 1999);  Webster's 3d New Int'l Dictionary 1290 
(1993).   It is also clear that betting is not permitted under New York law.   See N.Y. Const. Art. I, 
§  9(1);  N.Y. Gen. Oblig. L. §  5-401.   Where a state's statute declares an act to be "unlawful," 
see N.Y. Gen. Oblig. L. §  5-401 ("all wagers ... shall be unlawful"), that act is not "legal," see §  
1084(b).  The safe-harbor provision is unambiguous, and is not applicable in Cohen's case. 
 
  V Aiding-and-Abetting Liability  
 
  Cohen contends that the district court constructively amended his indictment by instructing the 
jury on criminal aiding-and-abetting liability under 18 U.S.C. §  2(b) rather than under §  2(a) of 
that title.   Cohen argues that as a result, the district court failed to instruct the jury that before 
convicting Cohen for aiding and abetting his subordinates' conduct, it must find that those 
subordinates were themselves guilty of crimes.   Cohen also argues that he could not have been 
liable under §  2 for acts committed after his arrest.   We find no error in either instance. 
 
  A constructive amendment can occur when jury instructions change an essential element of the 
charges in the indictment so as to "deprive a defendant of an opportunity to meet the prosecutor's 
case."   See United States v. Helmsley, 941 F.2d 71, 90 (2d Cir.1991). (concluding that "the 
indictment and the jury charge ... comported with one another in all essential respects, and [the 
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defendant] had adequate notice of the conduct she was called upon to defend"). 
 
  The district court indicated to the parties at the charging conference that it would only charge 
aiding-and-abetting liability under §  2(a).  Section 2(a) requires proof that someone other than 
the defendant committed the underlying crime.   See United States v. Smith, 198 F.3d 377, 383 
(2d Cir.1999). 
 
  Instead, the district court charged the jury under §  2(b), which requires only that the defendant 
willfully cause another person to commit an act which would have been a crime had the 
defendant committed it himself.   See 18 U.S.C. §  2(b);  United States v. Concepcion, 983 F.2d 
369, 383-84 (2d Cir.1992).  Section 2(b), unlike §  2(a), does not require proof that someone else 
committed a crime. 
 
 Despite having charged §  2(b) rather than §  2(a), the district court did not amend Cohen's 
indictment.   Cohen was charged in his indictment with violations of 18 U.S.C. §  2, see A15, and 
the district court gave the jury a proper instruction under that statute. Although there may have 
been some confusing colloquy between the district court and counsel prior to the jury charge, the 
charge was consistent with the indictment.   There was no amendment. 
 
 Furthermore, Cohen could still have been liable for aiding and abetting the acts charged in 
Counts Seven and Eight of his indictment, even though those counts pertained to transmissions 
that occurred after his arrest. Cohen was a moving force behind WSE's entire operation, which 
continued to function after his arrest.   Cohen retained his position as President of WSE while on 
bail after his arrest. 
 
  Although Cohen purportedly did not "deal with daily operations" at WSE after his arrest, he also 
made no effort to curtail those operations.   In fact, he benefitted from them by receiving a salary, 
his travel expenses, and his legal fees from WSE. He clearly was still in a position to cause 
others, willfully, to commit acts that would have been crimes had he himself committed them.   He 
could, therefore, have been found liable for aiding and abetting WSE's ongoing violation of §  
1084. 
 
  VI Deposition of a Foreign Witness  
 
  Cohen argues that the district court should have granted his motion, pursuant to Fed.R.Crim.P. 
15(a), to adjourn his trial for one week so that he could depose a witness in Antigua.   The 
witness, an Antiguan government official, was unavailable for trial due to medical reasons.   That 
testimony, however, was not material to Cohen's trial, and thus the district court did not abuse its 
discretion in denying the motion. 
 
 Under Rule 15(a), a trial court may, in its discretion, order the deposition of a witness for use at 
trial "[w]henever due to exceptional circumstances of the case it is in the interests of justice."  
Fed.R.Crim.P. 15(a).   A movant must show that (1) the prospective witness is unavailable for 
trial, (2) the witness' testimony is material, and (3) the testimony is necessary to prevent a failure 
of justice.   See United States v. Singleton,  460 F.2d 1148, 1154 (2d Cir.1972). 
 
  Cohen states that the witness' testimony was material to two issues at his trial:  (1) whether 
Cohen had a corrupt motive;  and (2) whether Cohen believed that he was transmitting mere 
information assisting in the placing of bets rather than any bets themselves.   Cohen states that 
the witness would have testified to the advice she gave him based upon her experience as an 
Antiguan official and upon her alleged conversations with U.S. Government officials. 
 
  As this Court has already discussed, neither of these two issues was relevant to the question of 
Cohen's guilt under §  1084.   Cohen's purported motive was irrelevant to the issue of his 
conspiracy conviction, or to any other issue in his case.   See supra, part I. His beliefs regarding 
the nature of WSE's transmissions were equally irrelevant in view of the fact that §  1084(b)'s safe 
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harbor was, as a matter of law, inapplicable to him.   See supra, part II. Therefore, the district 
court was well within its discretion in denying the motion. 
 

CONCLUSION 
  For the reasons set forth above, the judgment of the district court is AFFIRMED. 
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Post Cohen Case 
 
Does accepting wagers from U.S. residents violate U.S. law? 
 
If accepting wagers from U.S. residents violates U.S. law, then can a U.S. 
resident or company do any of the following without violating U.S. law: 

1. Act as an agent/affiliate to build the user base? 
2. Run advertising for the online site? 
3. Provide programming for the online site? 
4. License trademarks to the online site for a % of the take? 
5. Co-brand a site? 
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U.S. Involvement 
What if a U.S. company has a foreign subsidiary operating an online site from 
jurisdictions where such activities are legal? 
 

 
 
 
The above site is owned by BSkyB Group, PLC, which is owned by News 
Corporation, which is now a U.S. company.   
Can this be done without violating U.S. law, and what is the key factor in 
this determination? 
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United States Department of Justice 
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Urban Affairs 

United States Senates 
 

Tuesday, March 18, 2003 
 
 
 Mr. Chairman and members of the Committee: 
 
Thank you for inviting me to testify before you today. 
The issue before this Committee is one of singular 
importance, and I commend the Committee for 
holding a hearing on this issue. I would also like to 
commend Senator Kyl, as well as Congressmen 
Goodlatte and Leach, for their tireless efforts and 
longstanding commitment to provide law enforcement 
with additional tools to combat Internet gambling. 
Today I am pleased to offer the views of the 
Department of Justice about Internet gambling, 
including the potential for gambling by minors and 
compulsive gambling, the potential for fraud and 
money laundering, the potential for the organized 
crime, the proliferation of advertising, and recent state 
actions. The Department of Justice generally 
supports the efforts of the drafters of these bills to 
enable law enforcement to cut off the transfer of 
funds to and from illegal Internet gambling 
businesses. 
 
As you all know, the number of Internet gambling 
sites has increased substantially in recent years. 
While there were approximately 700 Internet 
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gambling sites in 1999, it is estimated that by 2003, 
there will be approximately 1,800 such sites 
generating around $4.2 billion. In addition to on-line 
casino-style gambling sites, there are also numerous 
off-shore sports books operating telephone betting 
services. These developments are of great concern to 
the United States Department of Justice, particularly 
because many of these operations are currently 
accepting bets from United States citizens, when we 
believe that it is illegal to do so. 
 
The Internet and other emerging technologies, such 
as interactive television, have made possible types of 
gambling that were not feasible a few years ago. For 
example, a United States citizen can now, from his 
home at any hour of the day or night, participate in an 
interactive Internet poker game operated by a 
computer located in the Caribbean. Indeed, a tech-
savvy gambler can route his bets through computers 
located in other countries throughout the world, 
thereby obscuring the fact that he is placing his bet 
from the United States or from some other country 
where it is illegal to do so. 
 
Gambling by Minors 
 
On-line gambling also makes it far more difficult to 
prevent minors from gambling. Gambling websites 
cannot look at their customers to assess their age 
and request photo identification as is possible in 
traditional physical casinos and Off-Track-Betting 
parlors. Currently, Internet gambling businesses have 
no reliable way of confirming that the gamblers are 
not minors who have gained access to a credit card 
and are gambling on their web site. Although some 
companies are developing software to try to detect 
whether a player is old enough to gamble or whether 
that player is from a legal jurisdiction, such software 
has not been perfected and would, of course, be 
subject to the same types of flaws and vulnerabilities 
that could be exploited by hackers. 
 
Compulsive Gambling 
 
Unlike on-site gambling, on-line gambling is readily 
available to all at all hours and it permits the user to 
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gamble, in many cases, anonymously. This presents 
a greater danger for compulsive gambling and can 
cause severe financial consequences for an 
unsuccessful player. As was recently pointed out by 
the American Psychiatric Society: "Internet gambling, 
unlike many other forms of gambling activity, is a 
solitary activity, which makes it even more 
dangerous; people can gamble uninterrupted and 
undetected for unlimited periods of time." Indeed, the 
problems associated with pathological and problem 
gamblers, a frighteningly-large percentage of which 
are young people, are well-established and can be 
measured in the ruined lives of both the gamblers 
themselves and their families. 
 
Potential for Fraud 
 
Although there are certainly legitimate companies 
who are either operating or who want to operate on-
line casinos in an honest manner, the potential for 
fraud connected with casinos and bookmaking 
operations in the virtual world is far greater than in the 
physical realm. Start-up costs are relatively low and 
cheap servers and unsophisticated software are 
readily-available. On-line casinos and bookmaking 
establishments operate in many countries where 
effective regulation and law enforcement is minimal or 
non-existent. Like scam telemarketing operations, on-
line gambling establishments appear and disappear 
with regularity, collecting from losers and not paying 
winners, and with little fear of being apprehended and 
prosecuted. 
 
Through slight alterations of the software, 
unscrupulous gambling operations can manipulate 
the odds in their favor, make unauthorized credit card 
charges to the accounts of unsuspecting gamblers, or 
alter their own accounts to skim money. There is also 
a danger that hackers can manipulate the online 
games in their favor or can steal credit card or other 
information about other gamblers using the site. 
 
Potential for Organized Crime 
 
Additionally, the Department of Justice has a concern 
about the potential for the involvement of organized 
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crime in Internet gambling. Traditionally, gambling 
has been one of the staple activities in which 
organized crime has been involved. Indeed, many of 
the recent indictments brought against members of 
organized crime groups have included gambling 
charges. We have now seen evidence that organized 
crime is moving into Internet gambling.
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Internet Gambling Violates Federal law 
 
Most of these gambling businesses are operating 
offshore in foreign jurisdictions. If these businesses 
are accepting bets or wagers from customers located 
in the United States, then these businesses are 
violating federal laws, including Sections 1084, 1952, 
and 1955 of Title 18, United States Code. While the 
United States can bring indictments against these 
companies or the individuals operating these 
companies, the federal government may not be able 
to bring such individuals or companies to trial in the 
United States. 
 
Money Laundering and Internet Gambling 
 
Another major concern that the Department of Justice 
has about on-line gambling is that Internet gambling 
businesses provide criminals with an easy and 
excellent vehicle for money laundering, due in large 
part to the volume, speed, and international reach of 
Internet transaction and the offshore locations of most 
Internet gambling sites, as well as the fact that the 
industry itself is already cash-intensive. 
 
It is a fact that money launderers have to go to 
financial institutions either to conceal their illegal 
funds or recycle those funds back into the economy 
for their use. Because criminals are aware that banks 
have been subjected to greater scrutiny and 
regulation, not surprisingly, they have turned to other 
non-bank financial institutions, such as casinos, to 
launder their money. On-line casinos are a 
particularly inviting target because, in addition to 
using the gambling that casinos offer as a way to hide 
or transfer money, casinos offer a broad array of 
financial services to their customers, such as 
providing credit accounts, fund transmittal services, 
check cashing services, and currency exchange 
services. 
 
Individuals wanting to launder ill-gotten gains through 
an on-line casino can do so in a variety of ways. For 
example, a customer could establish an account with 
a casino using illegally-derived proceeds, conduct a 
minimal amount of betting or engage in offsetting bets 
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with an overseas confederate, and then request 
repayment from the casino, thereby providing a new 
"source" of the funds. If a gambler wants to transfer 
money to an inside source in the casino, who may be 
located in another country, he can just play until he 
loses the requisite amount. Similarly, if an insider 
wants to transfer money to the gambler, perhaps as 
payment for some illicit activity, he can rig the game 
so the bettor wins. 
 
The anonymous nature of the Internet and the use of 
encryption makes it difficult to trace the transactions. 
The gambling business may also not maintain the 
transaction records, in which case tracing may be 
impossible. While regulators in the United States can 
visit physical casinos, observe their operations, and 
examine their books and records to ensure 
compliance with regulations, this is far more difficult, if 
not impossible, with virtual casinos. 
 
Advertising for Internet Gambling 
 
In addition to on-line gambling itself, the United 
States government is also concerned about the 
substance and scope of advertising for on-line 
gambling. Such advertisements are omnipresent on 
the Internet, in print ads, and over the radio. The 
United States Federal Trade Commission recently 
looked at this issue and found, not surprisingly, that 
advertisements for gambling over the Internet appear 
even on websites oriented towards children. The 
sheer volume of advertisements for offshore sports 
books and online casinos is troubling because it 
misleads the public in the United States to believe 
that such gambling is legal, when in fact, it is not. 
Indeed, as I am sure you all know, many of these 
advertisements affirmatively foster that erroneous 
belief. 
 
Some states which outlaw the promotion of gambling 
have taken action to curtail these advertisements. For 
instance, in December 2001, the Colorado Attorney 
General and the Colorado Limited Gaming Control 
Commission sent notices to certain radio operators 
asking them to stop broadcasting advertisements for 
Internet casinos and sports bookmaking operations. 
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Similarly, in February 2002, the California Horse 
Racing Board and the California Broadcasters 
Association sent notices to every radio and television 
station in California to stop running advertisements 
for illegal off-shore wagering services. 
 
Other Recent State Actions 
 
In addition to the federal government, various state 
governments have also taken actions against on-line 
gambling. For instance, in New York State, where 
unauthorized gambling is illegal, the New York State 
Attorney General reached an agreement with Citibank 
to block credit card payments of on-line gambling 
transactions by its customers. The same Attorney 
General recently reached an agreement with PayPal, 
which agreed to stop processing payments from New 
York State customers to on-line gambling merchants. 
 
Some companies have taken steps themselves 
against on-line gambling businesses. For instance, 
just last month, PayPal was acquired by E-Bay, the 
on-line auction service, which announced that it will 
phase out PayPal's on-line gambling business by the 
end of 2002. Both Discover and American Express 
have company policies that restrict the use of their 
credit cards for Internet gambling and prevent Internet 
gambling sites from being issued credit card 
merchant accounts. 
 
Conclusion 
 
On behalf of the Department of Justice, I want to 
thank you again for inviting me to testify today. We 
thank you for your support over the years and reaffirm 
our commitment to work with Congress to address 
the significant issue of Internet gambling. While we 
have some technical and other concerns about these 
bills, we support the sponsors' efforts to address 
gambling on the Internet. I will be happy to answer 
any questions that you might have. 

 

Enforcement 
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The problem is as quoted from above “Most of these gambling businesses are 
operating offshore in foreign jurisdictions. If these businesses are accepting bets 
or wagers from customers located in the United States, then these businesses 
are violating federal laws, including Sections 1084, 1952, and 1955 of Title 18, 
United States Code. While the United States can bring indictments against these 
companies or the individuals operating these companies, the federal government 
may not be able to bring such individuals or companies to trial in the United 
States.” 
 
Without the ability to enforce against the online sites, the DOJ has in part, turned 
its attention to those providing assistance to online sites.  The following letter to 
the National Association of Broadcasters is an example of such efforts: 
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National Association of Broadcasters 
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Current Enforcement Regarding Media Outlets 
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Examples of Current Enforcement Against Foreign Nationals 
 
The following links are to news stories regarding enforcement actions against 
foreign nationals and foreign companies: 
 
 
Peter Dicks: 
http://www.ft.com/cms/s/d27d424a-c93f-11dc-9807-000077b07658.html 
 
http://www.timesonline.co.uk/article/0,,2095-2350224,00.html 
 
David Carruthers: 
http://www.forbes.com/business/feeds/afx/2006/07/17/afx2883564.html 
 
Anurag Dikshit 
http://www.usdoj.gov/usao/nys/pressreleases/December08/dikshitanuragpleapr.pdf  
 
 
 
 

http://www.ft.com/cms/s/d27d424a-c93f-11dc-9807-000077b07658.html
http://www.timesonline.co.uk/article/0,,2095-2350224,00.html
http://www.forbes.com/business/feeds/afx/2006/07/17/afx2883564.html
http://www.usdoj.gov/usao/nys/pressreleases/December08/dikshitanuragpleapr.pdf
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Convicted Former Online Poker Billionaire Avoids Jail 
 
Dec. 16 2010 - 5:53 pm  
 
Anurag Dikshit, the former online poker billionaire, was sentenced on Thursday to one 
year of probation and no jail time in a hearing that highlighted the extreme confusion 
over how U.S. law applies to online poker. 
 
Dikshit, 39, had traveled from his home in Gibraltar with a one-way ticket to New York 
to attend Thursday’s sentencing hearing, where he faced a maximum of two years in 
prison. He pleaded guilty in 2008 to one count of violating the federal wire act and 
agreed to forfeit $300 million. 
 
“I am persuaded that no jail time is appropriate here,” said U.S. District Judge Jed 
Rakoff. 
 
As part of his original plea deal, Dikshit agreed to cooperate in an ongoing investigation 
with federal prosecutors, who did not seek any jail time.  “I came to believe there was a 
high probability it was in violation of U.S. laws,” Dikshit said of his work at 
PartyGaming, the online poker company that he helped build, at the court hearing when 
he pleaded guilty in 2008. 
 
Indeed, Dikshit, who is married with two children, had reached out to federal prosecutors 
in the U.S. to initiate the negotiations that resulted in his 2008 guilty plea. Dikshit’s plea 
deal was originally seen as an important victory for the Department of Justice, which has 
long taken the position that facilitating for-money online poker in America violates U.S. 
law, making no distinction between sports betting—clearly illegal—and poker playing. 
 
A few months after Dikshit pleaded guilty, his former company, PartyGaming, a 
Gibraltar company that was once the world’s biggest online gaming company, struck a 
non-prosecution agreement with federal prosecutors in Manhattan, admitting that its U.S. 
operations for years had violated U.S. law. To some it seemed like the Justice 
Department had drawn a line in the sand against online poker and set a two-year time 
frame to go after industry players. 
 
At Thursday’s hearing Judge Rakoff challenged a government prosecutor wondering why 
there have been no other prosecutions, specifically mentioning Dikshit’s fellow 
PartyGaming cofounders, Americans Ruth Parasol DeLeon and her husband Russell 
DeLeon. “Nobody else has been indicted,” said Judge Rakoff. “It has been two years 
since this defendant began cooperating, what’s going on?” 
 
Assistant U.S. Attorney Arlo Devlin-Brown said that the investigation that involved 
Dikshit remains ongoing, pointing to sealed papers the government filed with the court. 
“There are challenges in this prosecution,” said Devlin-Brown, adding that Dikshit had 
asked to settle the case at its very early stages. “It has been two years and there are 
reasons.” 
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Indeed, even Mark Pomerantz, Dikshit’s lawyer, said during the hearing that he and his 
colleagues had discussed the confusing circumstances surrounding the case “hundreds of 
times.” In arguing for no jail time, Pomerantz highlighted Dikshit’s $300 million 
payment and said Dikshit, who is a citizen of India with no ties to the U.S., had originally 
been told by some lawyers that it was unlikely he would be charged, and even if he was 
charged the chances of extradition were slim. “The acceptance of responsibility is 
extraordinary,” said Pomerantz. “He wanted to square his accounts with the U.S.” 
 
It certainly would have been strange for Dikshit to wind up in jail even as other online 
poker entrepreneurs were not being prosecuted. Some of the most prominent are not even 
offshore, like the men widely believed to be behind Full Tilt Poker, the second-biggest 
company servicing U.S. play, poker champions Christopher Ferguson and Howard 
Lederer. 
 
Dikshit’s fellow PartyGaming cofounders, Ruth Parasol DeLeon and Russell DeLeon, 
who live in Europe, neither have settled with the feds nor have they been charged. 
Dikshit’s plea bargain was seen as a betrayal by Ruth Parasol DeLeon in particular and 
the online poker community in general. Doyle Brunson, known as the Godfather of Poker 
and himself an online poker entrepreneur, blasted Dikshit two years ago, saying: “It looks 
like he would feel a sense of obligation to online poker, the industry that made him a rich 
man. Instead, he folded up like an accordion and pled guilty to breaking some kind of 
mystery law and is paying a 300 million dollar fine and possible 2-year jail term.” 
 
PokerStars, the biggest online poker company, has for years insisted that legal opinions it 
has received from several U.S. law firms state that the Isle of Man company is not 
breaking any U.S. law, including the wire act of 1961 that Dikshit pleaded guilty to 
violating. “It’s PokerStars’ position that both the plain language and the legislative intent 
of the Wire Act strictly limit its application to sports wagering,” PokerStars has 
previously said.  Federal prosecutors have not appeared eager to actually challenge this 
reasoning in court. 
 
Instead, federal prosecutors and lawmakers have focused on cutting off online poker 
companies from the financial system by going after the outfits that process their financial 
transactions. A 2006 law that went into effect earlier this year was designed for this exact 
purpose by Congress. The law persuaded publicly-traded PartyGaming to exit the U.S. 
market, leaving its riches for PokerStars and Full Tilt Poker and causing its once high-
flying stock to plummet. 
 
FORBES estimated earlier this year that PokerStars’ global annual revenue had hit $1.4 
billion and Full Tilt’s annual revenue was some $500 million. FORBES also estimated 
that 2.5 million Americans play poker online and bet $30 billion annually. H2 Gambling 
Capital estimated the U.S. generated $1.4 billion of online poker revenue for companies 
with U.S. services. 
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Recent efforts by Senate Majority Leader Harry Reid to ram online poker regulation 
through Congress by attaching it to legislation extending the Bush tax cuts appear to have 
failed, much to the disappointment of casino companies in Reid’s home state of Nevada. 
 

But whether online poker regulation ever comes to the U.S. is no 
longer a matter of concern to Dikshit, who refused to answer 
questions about his sentence. He has nothing to do anymore with 
PartyGaming and sold his remaining shares in PartyGaming over 
the last two years for some $450 million. These days Dikshit 
concentrates mostly on his charitable foundation, the Kusuma 
Trust, to which he has contributed some $75 million, according to 
its financial statements. With Thursday’s sentencing, however, 
Dikshit’s role in the online poker game may not have come to a 
close. One of the reasons Judge Rakoff insisted on probation was 
to ensure Dikshit’s continued cooperation with the government, 
including in any potential future trial.
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The 2011 DOJ Opinion 
 
 On December 23, 2011, the Department of Justice publicly released an opinion it 
finished on September 20, 2011.  The release of the opinion was a bit of a surprise to the 
industry. 
 
 From the inception of the discussion of online gaming until the 2011 opinion was 
issued, the DOJ was consistent in asserting that the Federal Wire Act applied to both 
sporting events and, separately, contests.  The 2011 opinion changed the official 
interpretation of the Federal Wire Act by the DOJ. 
 
 The following is a copy of the DOJ opinion: 
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The Unlawful Internet Gambling Enforcement Act 
 

The most modern federal anti-gambling statute is the Unlawful Internet 
Gaming Enforcement Act (UIGEA). The UIGEA was passed after midnight on the 
day Congress adjourned for the last round of campaigning for the 2006 mid-term 
elections.  Similar bills had been debated and vetted for years, but never had 
enough support to make it to a floor vote.  In the fall of 2006, the intenet gambling 
prohibition and restriction legislation appeared headed for the same fate as 
similar bills as senator after senator refused to “attach” the bill to more important 
legislation.7   
 

Just prior to adjourning to campaign for the fall 2006 elections, congress 
was rushing through legislation to complete the session.  One of the bills in this 
final session was the “Security and Accountability For Every Port Act of 2006.” 
According to news reports Senate Majority Leader Bill Frist, was able to get the 
UIGEA attached to the must-pass SAFE PORT at about 1:00 A.M. shortly before 
the end of the session that would be followed by election campaigning.  This was 
a high priority “moral agenda” item for Senator Frist who was thought to be an 
early favorite for the 2008 republican presidential nomination.8  There was no 
debate about the “anti-terrorism/homeland security” SAFE PORT act and it easily 
passed. 

 
Despite the language in 31 USC 5361(b) the Department of Justice 

Opinion relied on the UIGEA to interpret the application of the Federal Wire Act.  
Review the statute and determine if the UIGEA should influence the 
interpretation of the Federal Wire Act. 

31 U.S.C. §5361-5367 the Statute 
 
31 U.S.C.  5361. Congressional findings and purpose 
 
 (a) Findings.--Congress finds the following: 

(1) Internet gambling is primarily funded through personal use of payment system instruments, 
credit cards, and wire transfers. 
(2) The National Gambling Impact Study Commission in 1999 recommended the passage of 
legislation to prohibit wire transfers to Internet gambling sites or the banks which represent 
such sites. 

 
7 HR 4411, the Internet Gambling Prohibition and Enforcement Act, a much more sweeping act passed the 
House of Representatives in the summer of 2006.  It was deemed dead on arrival in the Senate when Senate 
Majority Leader Bill Frist announced that the legislative calendar was full for the remainder of 2006 and 
that there was insufficient support to accelerate addressing the bill in the Senate. 
8 It is interesting to note that at this time, there was significant fall out from the Jack Abramoff scandal, 
which in part disclosed that lobbyist Jack Abramoff helped kill prior online gaming prohibition bills.  The 
UIGEA was promoted by its supporters a way for the Republican congress to distance itself from the 
Abramoff scandal leading up to the November 2006 elections. 
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(3) Internet gambling is a growing cause of debt collection problems for insured depository 
institutions and the consumer credit industry. 
(4) New mechanisms for enforcing gambling laws on the Internet are necessary because 
traditional law enforcement mechanisms are often inadequate for enforcing gambling 
prohibitions or regulations on the Internet, especially where such gambling crosses State or 
national borders. 

(b) Rule of construction.--No provision of this subchapter shall be construed as altering, 
limiting, or extending any Federal or State law or Tribal-State compact prohibiting, 
permitting, or regulating gambling within the United States. 
 
31 U.S.C.  5362. Definitions  In this subchapter: 

(1) Bet or wager.--The term "bet or wager"-- 
(A) means the staking or risking by any person of something of value upon the outcome of a 
contest of others, a sporting event, or a game subject to chance, upon an agreement or 
understanding that the person or another person will receive something of value in the event 
of a certain outcome; 
(B) includes the purchase of a chance or opportunity to win a lottery or other prize (which 
opportunity to win is predominantly subject to chance); 
(C) includes any scheme of a type described in section 3702 of title 28; 
(D) includes any instructions or information pertaining to the establishment or movement of 
funds by the bettor or customer in, to, or from an account with the business of betting or 
wagering;  and 
(E) does not include-- 

(i) any activity governed by the securities laws (as that term is defined in  section 3(a)(47) 
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 for the purchase or sale of securities (as that term 
is defined in section 3(a)(10) of that Act); 
(ii) any transaction conducted on or subject to the rules of a registered entity or exempt 
board of trade under the Commodity Exchange Act; 
(iii) any over-the-counter derivative instrument; 
(iv) any other transaction that-- 

(I) is excluded or exempt from regulation under the Commodity Exchange Act;  or 
(II) is exempt from State gaming or bucket shop laws under section 12(e) of the 
Commodity Exchange Act or section 28(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; 

(v) any contract of indemnity or guarantee; 
(vi) any contract for insurance; 
(vii) any deposit or other transaction with an insured depository institution; 
(viii) participation in any game or contest in which participants do not stake or risk anything 
of value other than-- 

(I) personal efforts of the participants in playing the game or contest or obtaining access 
to the Internet;  or 
(II) points or credits that the sponsor of the game or contest provides to participants free 
of charge and that can be used or redeemed only for participation in games or contests 
offered by the sponsor;  or 

(ix) participation in any fantasy or simulation sports game or educational game or 
contest in which (if the game or contest involves a team or teams) no fantasy or simulation 
sports team is based on the current membership of an actual team that is a member of an 
amateur or professional sports organization (as those terms are defined in section 3701 of 
title 28) and that meets the following conditions: 

(I) All prizes and awards offered to winning participants are established and made known 
to the participants in advance of the game or contest and their value is not determined by 
the number of participants or the amount of any fees paid by those participants. 
(II) All winning outcomes reflect the relative knowledge and skill of the participants and 
are determined predominantly by accumulated statistical results of the performance of 
individuals (athletes in the case of sports events) in multiple real-world sporting or other 
events. 
(III) No winning outcome is based-- 
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(aa) on the score, point-spread, or any performance or performances of any single real-
world team or any combination of such teams;  or 
(bb) solely on any single performance of an individual athlete in any single real-world 
sporting or other event. 

(2) Business of betting or wagering.--The term "business of betting or wagering" does not 
include the activities of a financial transaction provider, or any interactive computer service or 
telecommunications service. 
(3) Designated payment system.--The term "designated payment system" means any system 
utilized by a financial transaction provider that the Secretary and the Board of Governors of the 
Federal Reserve System, in consultation with the Attorney General, jointly determine, by 
regulation or order, could be utilized in connection with, or to facilitate, any restricted 
transaction. 
(4) Financial transaction provider.--The term "financial transaction provider" means a 
creditor, credit card issuer, financial institution, operator of a terminal at which an electronic 
fund transfer may be initiated, money transmitting business, or international, national, regional, 
or local payment network utilized to effect a credit transaction, electronic fund transfer, stored 
value product transaction, or money transmitting service, or a participant in such network, or 
other participant in a designated payment system. 
(5) Internet.--The term "Internet" means the international computer network of interoperable 
packet switched data networks. 
(6) Interactive computer service.--The term "interactive computer service" has the meaning 
given the term in section 230(f) of the Communications Act of 1934 (47 U.S.C. 230(f)). 
(7) Restricted transaction.--The term "restricted transaction" means any transaction or 
transmittal involving any credit, funds, instrument, or proceeds described in any paragraph of 
section 5363 which the recipient is prohibited from accepting under section 5363. 
(8) Secretary.--The term "Secretary" means the Secretary of the Treasury. 
(9) State.--The term "State" means any State of the United States, the District of Columbia, or 
any commonwealth, territory, or other possession of the United States. 
(10) Unlawful internet gambling.-- 

(A) In general.--The term "unlawful Internet gambling" means to place, receive, or otherwise 
knowingly transmit a bet or wager by any means which involves the use, at least in part, of 
the Internet where such bet or wager is unlawful under any applicable Federal or State law in 
the State or Tribal lands in which the bet or wager is initiated, received, or otherwise made. 

 
(B) Intrastate transactions.--The term "unlawful Internet gambling" does not include placing, 
receiving, or otherwise transmitting a bet or wager where-- 

(i) the bet or wager is initiated and received or otherwise made exclusively within a single 
State; 
(ii) the bet or wager and the method by which the bet or wager is initiated and received or 
otherwise made is expressly authorized by and placed in accordance with the laws of such 
State, and the State law or regulations include-- 

(I) age and location verification requirements reasonably designed to block access to 
minors and persons located out of such State;  and 
(II) appropriate data security standards to prevent unauthorized access by any person 
whose age and current location has not been verified in accordance with such State's law 
or regulations;  and 

(iii) the bet or wager does not violate any provision of-- 
(I) the Interstate Horseracing Act of 1978 (15 U.S.C. 3001 et seq.); 
(II) chapter 178 of title 28 (commonly known as the "Professional and Amateur Sports 
Protection Act"); 
(III) the Gambling Devices Transportation Act (15 U.S.C. 1171 et seq.);  or 
(IV) the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act (25 U.S.C. 2701 et seq.). 

(C) Intratribal transactions.--The term "unlawful Internet gambling" does not include placing, 
receiving, or otherwise transmitting a bet or wager where-- 

(i) the bet or wager is initiated and received or otherwise made exclusively-- 
(I) within the Indian lands of a single Indian tribe (as such terms are defined under the 
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Indian Gaming Regulatory Act);  or 
(II) between the Indian lands of 2 or more Indian tribes to the extent that intertribal 
gaming is authorized by the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act; 

(ii) the bet or wager and the method by which the bet or wager is initiated and received or 
otherwise made is expressly authorized by and complies with the requirements of-- 

(I) the applicable tribal ordinance or resolution approved by the Chairman of the National 
Indian Gaming Commission;  and 
(II) with respect to class III gaming, the applicable Tribal-State Compact; 

(iii) the applicable tribal ordinance or resolution or Tribal-State compact includes-- 
(I) age and location verification requirements reasonably designed to block access to 
minors and persons located out of the applicable Tribal lands;  and 
(II) appropriate data security standards to prevent unauthorized access by any person 
whose age and current location has not been verified in accordance with the applicable 
tribal ordinance or resolution or Tribal-State Compact;  and 

(iv) the bet or wager does not violate any provision of-- 
(I) the Interstate Horseracing Act of 1978 (15 U.S.C. 3001 et seq.); 
(II) chapter 178 of title 28 (commonly known as the "Professional and Amateur Sports 
Protection Act"); 
(III) the Gambling Devices Transportation Act (15 U.S.C. 1171 et seq.);  or 
(IV) the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act (25 U.S.C. 2701 et seq.). 

(D) Interstate horseracing.-- 
(i) In general.--The term "unlawful Internet gambling" shall not include any activity that is 
allowed under the Interstate Horseracing Act of 1978 (15 U.S.C. 3001 et seq.). 
(ii) Rule of construction regarding preemption.--Nothing in this subchapter may be 
construed to preempt any State law prohibiting gambling. 
(iii) Sense of Congress.--It is the sense of Congress that this subchapter shall not change 
which activities related to horse racing may or may not be allowed under Federal law.  This 
subparagraph is intended to address concerns that this subchapter could have the effect of 
changing the existing relationship between the Interstate Horseracing Act and other 
Federal statutes in effect on the date of the enactment of this subchapter.  This subchapter 
is not intended to change that relationship.  This subchapter is not intended to resolve any 
existing disagreements over how to interpret the relationship between the Interstate 
Horseracing Act and other Federal statutes. 

(E) Intermediate routing.--The intermediate routing of electronic data shall not determine the 
location or locations in which a bet or wager is initiated, received, or otherwise made. 

(11) Other terms.-- 
(A) Credit;  creditor;  credit card;  and card issuer.--The terms "credit",  "creditor", "credit 
card", and "card issuer" have the meanings given the terms in section 103 of the Truth in 
Lending Act (15 U.S.C. 1602). 

 
(B) Electronic fund transfer.--The term "electronic fund transfer"-- 

(i) has the meaning given the term in section 903 of the Electronic Fund Transfer Act (15 
U.S.C. 1693a), except that the term includes transfers that would otherwise be excluded 
under section 903(6)(E) of that Act;  and 
(ii) includes any fund transfer covered by Article 4A of the Uniform Commercial Code, as in 
effect in any State. 

(C) Financial institution.--The term "financial institution" has the meaning given the term in 
section 903 of the Electronic Fund Transfer Act, except that such term does not include a 
casino, sports book, or other business at or through which bets or wagers may be placed or 
received. 
(D) Insured depository institution.--The term "insured depository institution"-- 

(i) has the meaning given the term in section 3(c) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act (12 
U.S.C. 1813(c));  and 
(ii) includes an insured credit union (as defined in section 101 of the Federal Credit Union 
Act). 

(E) Money transmitting business and money transmitting service.--The terms  "money 
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transmitting business" and "money transmitting service" have the meanings given the terms 
in section 5330(d) (determined without regard to any regulations prescribed by the Secretary 
thereunder). 

31 U.S.C.  5363. Prohibition on acceptance of any financial instrument for unlawful internet 
gambling 
No person engaged in the business of betting or wagering may knowingly accept, in connection 
with the participation of another person in unlawful Internet gambling-- 

(1) credit, or the proceeds of credit, extended to or on behalf of such other person (including 
credit extended through the use of a credit card); 
(2) an electronic fund transfer, or funds transmitted by or through a money transmitting 
business, or the proceeds of an electronic fund transfer or money transmitting service, from or 
on behalf of such other person; 
(3) any check, draft, or similar instrument which is drawn by or on behalf of such other person 
and is drawn on or payable at or through any financial institution;  or 
(4) the proceeds of any other form of financial transaction, as the Secretary and the Board of 
Governors of the Federal Reserve System may jointly prescribe by regulation, which involves a 
financial institution as a payor or financial intermediary on behalf of or for the benefit of such 
other person. 

31 U.S.C.  5364. Policies and procedures to identify and prevent restricted transactions 
 (a) Regulations.--Before the end of the 270-day period beginning on the date of the enactment 
of this subchapter, the Secretary and the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, in 
consultation with the Attorney General, shall prescribe regulations (which the Secretary and the 
Board jointly determine to be appropriate) requiring each designated payment system, and all 
participants therein, to identify and block or otherwise prevent or prohibit restricted transactions 
through the establishment of policies and procedures reasonably designed to identify and block 
or otherwise prevent or prohibit the acceptance of restricted transactions in any of the following 
ways: 

(1) The establishment of policies and procedures that-- 
(A) allow the payment system and any person involved in the payment system to identify 
restricted transactions by means of codes in authorization messages or by other means;  and 
(B) block restricted transactions identified as a result of the policies and procedures 
developed pursuant to subparagraph (A). 

(2) The establishment of policies and procedures that prevent or prohibit the acceptance of the 
products or services of the payment system in connection with a restricted transaction. 

(b) Requirements for policies and procedures.--In prescribing regulations under subsection 
(a), the Secretary and the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System shall-- 

(1) identify types of policies and procedures, including nonexclusive examples, which would be 
deemed, as applicable, to be reasonably designed to identify and block or otherwise prevent or 
prohibit the acceptance of the products or services with respect to each type of restricted 
transaction; 
(2) to the extent practical, permit any participant in a payment system to choose among 
alternative means of identifying and blocking, or otherwise preventing or prohibiting the 
acceptance of the products or services of the payment system or participant in connection with, 
restricted transactions; 
(3) exempt certain restricted transactions or designated payment systems from any requirement 
imposed under such regulations, if the Secretary and the Board jointly find that it is not 
reasonably practical to identify and block, or otherwise prevent or prohibit the acceptance of, 
such transactions;  and 
(4) ensure that transactions in connection with any activity excluded from the definition of 
unlawful internet gambling in subparagraph (B), (C), or (D)(i) of section 5362(10) are not 
blocked or otherwise prevented or prohibited by the prescribed regulations. 

 
(c) Compliance with payment system policies and procedures.--A financial transaction 
provider shall be considered to be in compliance with the regulations prescribed under subsection 
(a) if-- 

(1) such person relies on and complies with the policies and procedures of a designated 
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payment system of which it is a member or participant to-- 
(A) identify and block restricted transactions;  or 
(B) otherwise prevent or prohibit the acceptance of the products or services of the payment 
system, member, or participant in connection with restricted transactions;  and 

(2) such policies and procedures of the designated payment system comply with the 
requirements of regulations prescribed under subsection (a). 

 
(d) No liability for blocking or refusing to honor restricted transactions.--A person that 
identifies and blocks a transaction, prevents or prohibits the acceptance of its products or 
services in connection with a transaction, or otherwise refuses to honor a transaction-- 

(1) that is a restricted transaction; 
(2) that such person reasonably believes to be a restricted transaction;  or 
(3) as a designated payment system or a member of a designated payment system in reliance 
on the policies and procedures of the payment system, in an effort to comply with regulations 
prescribed under subsection (a), shall not be liable to any party for such action. 

(e) Regulatory enforcement.--The requirements under this section shall be enforced exclusively 
by-- 

(1) the Federal functional regulators, with respect to the designated payment systems and 
financial transaction providers subject to the respective jurisdiction of such regulators under 
section 505(a) of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act and section 5g of the Commodities Exchange 
Act;  and 
(2) the Federal Trade Commission, with respect to designated payment systems and financial 
transaction providers not otherwise subject to the jurisdiction of any Federal functional 
regulators (including the Commission) as described in paragraph (1). 

 
31 U.S.C.  5365. Civil remedies 
 (a) Jurisdiction.--In addition to any other remedy under current law, the district courts of the 
United States shall have original and exclusive jurisdiction to prevent and restrain restricted 
transactions by issuing appropriate orders in accordance with this section, regardless of whether 
a prosecution has been initiated under this subchapter. 
(b) Proceedings.-- 

(1) Institution by Federal government.-- 
(A) In general.--The United States, acting through the Attorney General, may institute 
proceedings under this section to prevent or restrain a restricted transaction. 
(B) Relief.--Upon application of the United States under this paragraph, the district court may 
enter a temporary restraining order, a preliminary injunction, or an injunction against any 
person to prevent or restrain a restricted transaction, in accordance with rule 65 of the 
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 

 
(2) Institution by State attorney general.-- 

 
(A) In general.--The attorney general (or other appropriate State official) of a State in which a 
restricted transaction allegedly has been or will be initiated, received, or otherwise made may 
institute proceedings under this section to prevent or restrain the violation or threatened 
violation. 
(B) Relief.--Upon application of the attorney general (or other appropriate State official) of an 
affected State under this paragraph, the district court may enter a temporary restraining 
order, a preliminary injunction, or an injunction against any person to prevent or restrain a 
restricted transaction, in accordance with rule 65 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 

 
(3) Indian lands.-- 

(A) In general.--Notwithstanding paragraphs (1) and (2), for a restricted transaction that 
allegedly has been or will be initiated, received, or otherwise made on Indian lands (as that 
term is defined in section 4 of the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act)-- 

(i) the United States shall have the enforcement authority provided under paragraph (1);  
and 
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(ii) the enforcement authorities specified in an applicable Tribal-State Compact negotiated 
under section 11 of the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act (25 U.S.C. 2710) shall be carried out 
in accordance with that compact. 

(B) Rule of construction.--No provision of this section shall be construed as altering, 
superseding, or otherwise affecting the application of the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act. 

 
(c) Limitation relating to interactive computer services.-- 

(1) In general.--Relief granted under this section against an interactive computer service shall-- 
 

(A) be limited to the removal of, or disabling of access to, an online site violating section 
5363, or a hypertext link to an online site violating such section, that resides on a computer 
server that such service controls or operates, except that the limitation in this subparagraph 
shall not apply if the service is subject to liability under this section under section 5367; 

 
(B) be available only after notice to the interactive computer service and an opportunity for 
the service to appear are provided; 

 
(C) not impose any obligation on an interactive computer service to monitor its service or to 
affirmatively seek facts indicating activity violating this subchapter; 

 
(D) specify the interactive computer service to which it applies;  and 
(E) specifically identify the location of the online site or hypertext link to be removed or 
access to which is to be disabled. 

(2) Coordination with other law.--An interactive computer service that does not violate this 
subchapter shall not be liable under section 1084(d) of title 18, except that the limitation in this 
paragraph shall not apply if an interactive computer service has actual knowledge and control 
of bets and wagers and-- 

(A) operates, manages, supervises, or directs an Internet website at which unlawful bets or 
wagers may be placed, received, or otherwise made or at which unlawful bets or wagers are 
offered to be placed, received, or otherwise made; or 
(B) owns or controls, or is owned or controlled by, any person who operates, manages, 
supervises, or directs an Internet website at which unlawful bets or wagers may be placed, 
received, or otherwise made, or at which unlawful bets or wagers are offered to be placed, 
received, or otherwise made. 

(d) Limitation on injunctions against regulated persons.--Notwithstanding any other provision 
of this section, and subject to section 5367, no provision of this subchapter shall be construed as 
authorizing the Attorney General of the United States, or the attorney general (or other 
appropriate State official) of any State to institute proceedings to prevent or restrain a restricted 
transaction against any financial transaction provider, to the extent that the person is acting as a 
financial transaction provider. 
 
31 U.S.C.  5366. Criminal penalties 
(a) In general.--Any person who violates section 5363 shall be fined under title 18, imprisoned for 
not more than 5 years, or both. 
(b) Permanent injunction.--Upon conviction of a person under this section, the court may enter 
a permanent injunction enjoining such person from placing, receiving, or otherwise making bets 
or wagers or sending, receiving, or inviting information assisting in the placing of bets or wagers. 

 
31 U.S.C.  5367. Circumventions prohibited 
Notwithstanding section 5362(2), a financial transaction provider, or any interactive computer 
service or telecommunications service, may be liable under this subchapter if such person has 
actual knowledge and control of bets and wagers, and-- 

(1) operates, manages, supervises, or directs an Internet website at which unlawful bets or 
wagers may be placed, received, or otherwise made, or at which unlawful bets or wagers are 
offered to be placed, received, or otherwise made; or 
(2) owns or controls, or is owned or controlled by, any person who operates, manages, 

http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=1000546&DocName=25USCAS2710&FindType=L
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=1000546&DocName=31USCAS5363&FindType=L
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=1000546&DocName=31USCAS5363&FindType=L
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=1000546&DocName=31USCAS5367&FindType=L
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=1000546&DocName=18USCAS1084&FindType=L&ReferencePositionType=T&ReferencePosition=SP_5ba1000067d06
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=1000546&DocName=31USCAS5367&FindType=L
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=USCA&DocName=LK%2831USCAS5366%29&FindType=l
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=1000546&DocName=31USCAS5363&FindType=L
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=USCA&DocName=LK%2831USCAS5367%29&FindType=l
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=dfa1.0&vr=2.0&DB=1000546&DocName=31USCAS5362&FindType=L&ReferencePositionType=T&ReferencePosition=SP_58730000872b1


 Page 62 
 

supervises, or directs an Internet website at which unlawful bets or wagers may be placed, 
received, or otherwise made, or at which unlawful bets or wagers are offered to be placed, 
received, or otherwise made. 
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Authority:   31 U.S.C. 321 and 5364. 
 
Source:   73 FR 69405, Nov. 18, 2008, unless otherwise noted. 
§ 132.1   Authority, purpose, collection of information, and incorporation by 
reference. 
 
(a) Authority. This part is issued jointly by the Board of Governors of the Federal 
Reserve System (Board) and the Secretary of the Department of the Treasury 
(Treasury) under section 802 of the Unlawful Internet Gambling Enforcement Act 
of 2006 (Act) (enacted as Title VIII of the Security and Accountability For Every 
Port Act of 2006, Pub. L. No. 109–347, 120 Stat. 1884, and codified at 31 U.S.C. 
5361–5367). The Act states that none of its provisions shall be construed as 
altering, limiting, or extending any Federal or State law or Tribal-State compact 
prohibiting, permitting, or regulating gambling within the United States. See 31 
U.S.C. 5361(b). In addition, the Act states that its provisions are not intended to 
change which activities related to horseracing may or may not be allowed under 
Federal law, are not intended to change the existing relationship between the 
Interstate Horseracing Act of 1978 (IHA) (15 U.S.C. 3001 et seq. ) and other 
Federal statutes in effect on October 13, 2006, the date of the Act's enactment, 
and are not intended to resolve any existing disagreements over how to interpret 
the relationship between the IHA and other Federal statutes. See 31 U.S.C. 
5362(10)(D)(iii). This part is intended to be consistent with these provisions. 
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(b) Purpose. The purpose of this part is to issue implementing regulations as 
required by the Act. The part sets out necessary definitions, designates payment 
systems subject to the requirements of this part, exempts certain participants in 
designated payment systems from certain requirements of this part, provides 
nonexclusive examples of policies and procedures reasonably designed to 
identify and block, or otherwise prevent and prohibit, restricted transactions, and 
sets out the Federal entities that have exclusive regulatory enforcement authority 
with respect to the designated payments systems and non-exempt participants 
therein. 
 
(c) Collection of information. The Office of Management and Budget (OMB) has 
approved the collection of information requirements in this part for the 
Department of the Treasury and assigned OMB control number 1505–0204. The 
Board has approved the collection of information requirements in this part under 
the authority delegated to the Board by OMB, and assigned OMB control number 
7100–0317. 
 
(d) Incorporation by reference—relevant definitions from ACH rules. (1) This part 
incorporates by reference the relevant definitions of ACH terms as published in 
the “2008 ACH Rules: A Complete Guide to Rules & Regulations Governing the 
ACH Network” (the “ACH Rules”). The Director of the Federal Register approves 
this incorporation by reference in accordance with 5 U.S.C. 552(a) and 1 CFR 
part 51. Copies of the “2008 ACH Rules” are available from the National 
Automated Clearing House Association, Suite 100, 13450 Sunrise Valley Drive, 
Herndon, Virginia 20171, http://nacha.org , (703) 561–1100. Copies also are 
available for public inspection at the Department of Treasury Library, Room 
1428, Main Treasury Building, 1500 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW., Washington, 
DC 20220, and the National Archives and Records Administration (NARA). 
Before visiting the Treasury library, you must call (202) 622–0990 for an 
appointment. For information on the availability of this material at NARA, call 
(202) 741–6030, or go to: 
http://www.archives.gov/federal_register/code_of_federal_regulations/ibr_locatio
ns.html 20002. 
 
(2) Any amendment to definitions of the relevant ACH terms in the ACH Rules 
shall not apply to this part unless the Treasury and the Board jointly accept such 
amendment by publishing notice of acceptance of the amendment to this part in 
theFederal Register.An amendment to the definition of a relevant ACH term in 
the ACH Rules that is accepted by the Treasury and the Board shall apply to this 
part on the effective date of the rulemaking specified by the Treasury and the 
Board in the jointFederal Registernotice expressly accepting such amendment. 
 
§ 132.2   Definitions. 
 
The following definitions apply solely for purposes of this part: 
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(a) Actual knowledge with respect to a transaction or commercial customer 
means when a particular fact with respect to that transaction or commercial 
customer is known by or brought to the attention of: 
 
(1) An individual in the organization responsible for the organization's compliance 
function with respect to that transaction or commercial customer; or 
 
(2) An officer of the organization. 
 
(b) Automated clearing house system or ACH system means a funds transfer 
system, primarily governed by the ACH Rules, which provides for the clearing 
and settlement of batched electronic entries for participating financial institutions. 
When referring to ACH systems, the terms in this regulation (such as “originating 
depository financial institution,” “operator,” “originating gateway operator,” 
“receiving depository financial institution,” “receiving gateway operator,” and 
“third-party sender”) are defined as those terms are defined in the ACH Rules. 
 
(c) Bet or wager. (1) Means the staking or risking by any person of something of 
value upon the outcome of a contest of others, a sporting event, or a game 
subject to chance, upon an agreement or understanding that the person or 
another person will receive something of value in the event of a certain outcome; 
 
(2) Includes the purchase of a chance or opportunity to win a lottery or other 
prize (which opportunity to win is predominantly subject to chance); 
 
(3) Includes any scheme of a type described in 28 U.S.C. 3702; 
 
(4) Includes any instructions or information pertaining to the establishment or 
movement of funds by the bettor or customer in, to, or from an account with the 
business of betting or wagering (which does not include the activities of a 
financial transaction provider, or any interactive computer service or 
telecommunications service); and 
 
(5) Does not include— 
 
(i) Any activity governed by the securities laws (as that term is defined in section 
3(a)(47) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78c(a)(47)) for the 
purchase or sale of securities (as that term is defined in section 3(a)(10) of that 
act (15 U.S.C. 78c(a)(10)); 
 
(ii) Any transaction conducted on or subject to the rules of a registered entity or 
exempt board of trade under the Commodity Exchange Act (7 U.S.C. 1 et seq. ); 
 
(iii) Any over-the-counter derivative instrument; 
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(iv) Any other transaction that— 
 
(A) Is excluded or exempt from regulation under the Commodity Exchange Act (7 
U.S.C. 1 et seq. ); or 
 
(B) Is exempt from State gaming or bucket shop laws under section 12(e) of the 
Commodity Exchange Act (7 U.S.C. 16(e)) or section 28(a) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78bb(a)); 
 
(v) Any contract of indemnity or guarantee; 
 
(vi) Any contract for insurance; 
 
(vii) Any deposit or other transaction with an insured depository institution; 
 
(viii) Participation in any game or contest in which participants do not stake or 
risk anything of value other than— 
 
(A) Personal efforts of the participants in playing the game or contest or obtaining 
access to the Internet; or 
 
(B) Points or credits that the sponsor of the game or contest provides to 
participants free of charge and that can be used or redeemed only for 
participation in games or contests offered by the sponsor; or 
 
(ix) Participation in any fantasy or simulation sports game or educational game or 
contest in which (if the game or contest involves a team or teams) no fantasy or 
simulation sports team is based on the current membership of an actual team 
that is a member of an amateur or professional sports organization (as those 
terms are defined in 28 U.S.C. 3701) and that meets the following conditions: 
 
(A) All prizes and awards offered to winning participants are established and 
made known to the participants in advance of the game or contest and their 
value is not determined by the number of participants or the amount of any fees 
paid by those participants. 
 
(B) All winning outcomes reflect the relative knowledge and skill of the 
participants and are determined predominantly by accumulated statistical results 
of the performance of individuals (athletes in the case of sports events) in 
multiple real-world sporting or other events. 
 
(C) No winning outcome is based— 
 
( 1 ) On the score, point-spread, or any performance or performances of any 
single real-world team or any combination of such teams, or 
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( 2 ) Solely on any single performance of an individual athlete in any single real-
world sporting or other event. 
 
(d) Block means to reject a particular transaction before or during processing, but 
it does not require freezing or otherwise prohibiting subsequent transfers or 
transactions regarding the proceeds or account. 
 
(e) Card issuer means any person who issues a credit card, debit card, pre-paid 
card, or stored value card, or the agent of such person with respect to such card. 
 
(f) Card system means a system for authorizing, clearing and settling 
transactions in which credit cards, debit cards, pre-paid cards, or stored value 
cards (such cards being issued or authorized by the operator of the system), are 
used to purchase goods or services or to obtain a cash advance. The term 
includes systems both in which the merchant acquirer, card issuer, and system 
operator are separate entities and in which more than one of these roles are 
performed by the same entity. 
 
(g) Check clearing house means an association of banks or other payors that 
regularly exchange checks for collection or return. 
 
(h) Check collection system means an interbank system for collecting, 
presenting, returning, and settling for checks or intrabank system for settling for 
checks deposited in and drawn on the same bank. When referring to check 
collection systems, the terms in this regulation (such as “paying bank,” “collecting 
bank,” “depositary bank,” “returning bank,” and “check”) are defined as those 
terms are defined in 12 CFR 229.2. For purposes of this part, “check” also 
includes an electronic representation of a check that a bank agrees to handle as 
a check. 
 
(i) Commercial customer means a person that is not a consumer and that 
contracts with a non-exempt participant in a designated payment system to 
receive, or otherwise accesses, payment transaction services through that non-
exempt participant. 
 
(j) Consumer means a natural person. 
 
(k) Designated payment system means a system listed in §132.3. 
 
(l) Electronic fund transfer has the same meaning given the term in section 903 
of the Electronic Fund Transfer Act (15 U.S.C. 1693a), except that such term 
includes transfers that would otherwise be excluded under section 903(6)(E) of 
that act (15 U.S.C. 1693a(6)(E)), and includes any funds transfer covered by 
Article 4A of the Uniform Commercial Code, as in effect in any State. 
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(m) Financial institutio n means a State or national bank, a State or Federal 
savings and loan association, a mutual savings bank, a State or Federal credit 
union, or any other person that, directly or indirectly, holds an account belonging 
to a consumer. The term does not include a casino, sports book, or other 
business at or through which bets or wagers may be placed or received. 
 
(n) Financial transaction provider means a creditor, credit card issuer, financial 
institution, operator of a terminal at which an electronic fund transfer may be 
initiated, money transmitting business, or international, national, regional, or local 
payment network utilized to effect a credit transaction, electronic fund transfer, 
stored value product transaction, or money transmitting service, or a participant 
in such network, or other participant in a designated payment system. 
 
(o) Foreign banking office means: 
 
(1) Any non-U.S. office of a financial institution; and 
 
(2) Any non-U.S. office of a foreign bank as described in 12 U.S.C. 3101(7). 
 
(p) Interactive computer service means any information service, system, or 
access software provider that provides or enables computer access by multiple 
users to a computer server, including specifically a service or system that 
provides access to the Internet and such systems operated or services offered by 
libraries or educational institutions. 
 
(q) Internet means the international computer network of interoperable packet 
switched data networks. 
 
(r) Internet gambling business means the business of placing, receiving or 
otherwise knowingly transmitting a bet or wager by any means which involves the 
use, at least in part, of the Internet, but does not include the performance of the 
customary activities of a financial transaction provider, or any interactive 
computer service or telecommunications service. 
 
(s) Intrastate transaction means placing, receiving, or otherwise transmitting a 
bet or wager where— 
 
(1) The bet or wager is initiated and received or otherwise made exclusively 
within a single State; 
 
(2) The bet or wager and the method by which the bet or wager is initiated and 
received or otherwise made is expressly authorized by and placed in accordance 
with the laws of such State, and the State law or regulations include— 
 
(i) Age and location verification requirements reasonably designed to block 
access to minors and persons located out of such State; and 
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(ii) Appropriate data security standards to prevent unauthorized access by any 
person whose age and current location has not been verified in accordance with 
such State's law or regulations; and 
 
(3) The bet or wager does not violate any provision of— 
 
(i) The Interstate Horseracing Act of 1978 (15 U.S.C. 3001 et seq. ); 
 
(ii) 28 U.S.C. chapter 178 (professional and amateur sports protection); 
 
(iii) The Gambling Devices Transportation Act (15 U.S.C. 1171 et seq. ); or 
 
(iv) The Indian Gaming Regulatory Act (25 U.S.C. 2701 et seq. ). 
 
(t) Intratribal transaction means placing, receiving or otherwise transmitting a bet 
or wager where— 
 
(1) The bet or wager is initiated and received or otherwise made exclusively— 
 
(i) Within the Indian lands of a single Indian tribe (as such terms are defined 
under the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act (25 U.S.C. 2703)); or 
 
(ii) Between the Indian lands of two or more Indian tribes to the extent that 
intertribal gaming is authorized by the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act (25 U.S.C. 
2701 et seq. ); 
 
(2) The bet or wager and the method by which the bet or wager is initiated and 
received or otherwise made is expressly authorized by and complies with the 
requirements of— 
 
(i) The applicable tribal ordinance or resolution approved by the Chairman of the 
National Indian Gaming Commission; and 
 
(ii) With respect to class III gaming, the applicable Tribal-State compact; 
 
(3) The applicable tribal ordinance or resolution or Tribal-State compact 
includes— 
 
(i) Age and location verification requirements reasonably designed to block 
access to minors and persons located out of the applicable Tribal lands; and 
 
(ii) Appropriate data security standards to prevent unauthorized access by any 
person whose age and current location has not been verified in accordance with 
the applicable tribal ordinance or resolution or Tribal-State Compact; and 
 



 Page 69 
 

(4) The bet or wager does not violate any provision of— 
 
(i) The Interstate Horseracing Act of 1978 (15 U.S.C. 3001 et seq. ); 
 
(ii) 28 U.S.C. chapter 178 (professional and amateur sports protection); 
 
(iii) The Gambling Devices Transportation Act (15 U.S.C. 1171 et seq. ); or 
 
(iv) The Indian Gaming Regulatory Act (25 U.S.C. 2701 et seq. ). 
 
(u) Money transmitting business has the meaning given the term in 31 U.S.C. 
5330(d)(1) (determined without regard to any regulations prescribed by the 
Secretary of the Treasury thereunder). 
 
(v) Operator of a designated payment system means an entity that provides 
centralized clearing and delivery services between participants in the designated 
payment system and maintains the operational framework for the system. In the 
case of an automated clearinghouse system, the term “operator” has the same 
meaning as provided in the ACH Rules. 
 
(w) Participant in a designated payment system means an operator of a 
designated payment system, a financial transaction provider that is a member of, 
or has contracted for financial transaction services with, or is otherwise 
participating in, a designated payment system, or a third-party processor. This 
term does not include a customer of the financial transaction provider, unless the 
customer is also a financial transaction provider otherwise participating in the 
designated payment system on its own behalf. 
 
(x) Reasoned legal opinion means a written expression of professional judgment 
by a State-licensed attorney that addresses the facts of a particular client's 
business and the legality of the client's provision of its services to relevant 
customers in the relevant jurisdictions under applicable federal and State law, 
and, in the case of intratribal transactions, applicable tribal ordinances, tribal 
resolutions, and Tribal-State compacts. A written legal opinion will not be 
considered “reasoned” if it does nothing more than recite the facts and express a 
conclusion. 
 
(y) Restricted transaction means any of the following transactions or transmittals 
involving any credit, funds, instrument, or proceeds that the Act prohibits any 
person engaged in the business of betting or wagering (which does not include 
the activities of a financial transaction provider, or any interactive computer 
service or telecommunications service) from knowingly accepting, in connection 
with the participation of another person in unlawful Internet gambling— 
 
(1) Credit, or the proceeds of credit, extended to or on behalf of such other 
person (including credit extended through the use of a credit card); 
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(2) An electronic fund transfer, or funds transmitted by or through a money 
transmitting business, or the proceeds of an electronic fund transfer or money 
transmitting service, from or on behalf of such other person; or 
 
(3) Any check, draft, or similar instrument that is drawn by or on behalf of such 
other person and is drawn on or payable at or through any financial institution. 
 
(z) State means any State of the United States, the District of Columbia, or any 
commonwealth, territory, or other possession of the United States, including the 
Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana 
Islands, American Samoa, Guam, and the Virgin Islands. 
 
(aa) Third-party processor means a service provider that— 
 
(1) In the case of a debit transaction payment, such as an ACH debit entry or 
card system transaction, has a direct relationship with the commercial customer 
that is initiating the debit transfer transaction and acts as an intermediary 
between the commercial customer and the first depository institution to handle 
the transaction; 
 
(2) In the case of a credit transaction payment, such as an ACH credit entry, has 
a direct relationship with the commercial customer that is to receive the proceeds 
of the credit transfer and acts as an intermediary between the commercial 
customer and the last depository institution to handle the transaction; and 
 
(3) In the case of a cross-border ACH debit or check collection transaction, is the 
first service provider located within the United States to receive the ACH debit 
instructions or check for collection. 
 
(bb) Unlawful Internet gambling means to place, receive, or otherwise knowingly 
transmit a bet or wager by any means which involves the use, at least in part, of 
the Internet where such bet or wager is unlawful under any applicable Federal or 
State law in the State or Tribal lands in which the bet or wager is initiated, 
received, or otherwise made. The term does not include placing, receiving, or 
otherwise transmitting a bet or wager that is excluded from the definition of this 
term by the Act as an intrastate transaction or an intra-tribal transaction, and 
does not include any activity that is allowed under the Interstate Horseracing Act 
of 1978 (15 U.S.C. 3001 et seq. ; see §132.1(a)). The intermediate routing of 
electronic data shall not determine the location or locations in which a bet or 
wager is initiated, received, or otherwise made. 
 
(cc) Wire transfer system means a system through which an unconditional order 
to a bank to pay a fixed or determinable amount of money to a beneficiary upon 
receipt, or on a day stated in the order, is transmitted by electronic or other 
means through the network, between banks, or on the books of a bank. When 
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referring to wire transfer systems, the terms in this regulation (such as “bank,” 
“originator's bank,” “beneficiary's bank,” and “intermediary bank”) are defined as 
those terms are defined in 12 CFR part 210, appendix B. 
 
§ 132.3   Designated payment systems. 
 
The following payment systems could be used by participants in connection with, 
or to facilitate, a restricted transaction: 
 
(a) Automated clearing house systems; 
 
(b) Card systems; 
 
(c) Check collection systems; 
 
(d) Money transmitting businesses solely to the extent they 
 
(1) Engage in the transmission of funds, which does not include check cashing, 
currency exchange, or the issuance or redemption of money orders, travelers' 
checks, and other similar instruments; and 
 
(2) Permit customers to initiate transmission of funds transactions remotely from 
a location other than a physical office of the money transmitting business; and 
 
(e) Wire transfer systems. 
 
§ 132.4   Exemptions. 
 
 (a) Automated clearing house systems. The participants processing a particular 
transaction through an automated clearing house system are exempt from this 
regulation's requirements for establishing written policies and procedures 
reasonably designed to prevent or prohibit restricted transactions with respect to 
that transaction, except for— 
 
(1) The receiving depository financial institution and any third-party processor 
receiving the transaction on behalf of the receiver in an ACH credit transaction; 
 
(2) The originating depository financial institution and any third-party processor 
initiating the transaction on behalf of the originator in an ACH debit transaction; 
and 
 
(3) The receiving gateway operator and any third-party processor that receives 
instructions for an ACH debit transaction directly from a foreign sender (which 
could include a foreign banking office, a foreign third-party processor, or a foreign 
originating gateway operator). 
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(b) Check collection systems. The participants in a particular check collection 
through a check collection system are exempt from this regulation's requirements 
for establishing written policies and procedures reasonably designed to prevent 
or prohibit restricted transactions with respect to that check collection, except for 
the depositary bank. 
 
(c) Money transmitting businesses. The participants in a money transmitting 
business are exempt from this regulation's requirements for establishing written 
policies and procedures reasonably designed to prevent or prohibit restricted 
transactions, except for the operator. 
 
(d) Wire transfer systems. The participants in a particular wire transfer through a 
wire transfer system are exempt from this regulation's requirements for 
establishing written policies and procedures reasonably designed to prevent or 
prohibit restricted transactions with respect to that transaction, except for the 
beneficiary's bank. 
 
§ 132.5   Policies and procedures required. 
 
 (a) All non-exempt participants in designated payment systems shall establish 
and implement written policies and procedures reasonably designed to identify 
and block or otherwise prevent or prohibit restricted transactions. 
 
(b) A non-exempt financial transaction provider participant in a designated 
payment system shall be considered to be in compliance with the requirements 
of paragraph (a) of this section if— 
 
(1) It relies on and complies with the written policies and procedures of the 
designated payment system that are reasonably designed to— 
 
(i) Identify and block restricted transactions; or 
 
(ii) Otherwise prevent or prohibit the acceptance of the products or services of 
the designated payment system or participant in connection with restricted 
transactions; and 
 
(2) Such policies and procedures of the designated payment system comply with 
the requirements of this part. 
 
(c) For purposes of paragraph (b)(2) in this section, a participant in a designated 
payment system may rely on a written statement or notice by the operator of that 
designated payment system to its participants that states that the operator has 
designed or structured the system's policies and procedures for identifying and 
blocking or otherwise preventing or prohibiting restricted transactions to comply 
with the requirements of this part as conclusive evidence that the system's 
policies and procedures comply with the requirements of this part, unless the 
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participant is notified otherwise by its Federal functional regulator or, in the case 
of participants that are not directly supervised by a Federal functional regulator, 
the Federal Trade Commission. 
 
(d) As provided in the Act, a person that identifies and blocks a transaction, 
prevents or prohibits the acceptance of its products or services in connection with 
a transaction, or otherwise refuses to honor a transaction, shall not be liable to 
any party for such action if— 
 
(1) The transaction is a restricted transaction; 
 
(2) Such person reasonably believes the transaction to be a restricted 
transaction; or 
 
(3) The person is a participant in a designated payment system and blocks or 
otherwise prevents the transaction in reliance on the policies and procedures of 
the designated payment system in an effort to comply with this regulation. 
 
(e) Nothing in this part requires or is intended to suggest that designated 
payment systems or participants therein must or should block or otherwise 
prevent or prohibit any transaction in connection with any activity that is excluded 
from the definition of “unlawful Internet gambling” in the Act as an intrastate 
transaction, an intratribal transaction, or a transaction in connection with any 
activity that is allowed under the Interstate Horseracing Act of 1978 (15 U.S.C. 
3001 et seq.; see § 132.1(a)). 
 
(f) Nothing in this part modifies any requirement imposed on a participant by 
other applicable law or regulation to file a suspicious activity report to the 
appropriate authorities. 
 
(g) The requirement of this part to establish and implement written policies and 
procedures applies only to the U.S. offices of participants in designated payment 
systems. 
 
§ 132.6   Non-exclusive examples of policies and procedures. 
 
 (a) In general. The examples of policies and procedures to identify and block or 
otherwise prevent or prohibit restricted transactions set out in this section are 
non-exclusive. In establishing and implementing written policies and procedures 
to identify and block or otherwise prevent or prohibit restricted transactions, a 
non-exempt participant in a designated payment system is permitted to design 
and implement policies and procedures tailored to its business that may be 
different than the examples provided in this section. In addition, non-exempt 
participants may use different policies and procedures with respect to different 
business lines or different parts of the organization. 
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(b) Due diligence. If a non-exempt participant in a designated payment system 
establishes and implements procedures for due diligence of its commercial 
customer accounts or commercial customer relationships in order to comply, in 
whole or in part, with the requirements of this regulation, those due diligence 
procedures will be deemed to be reasonably designed to identify and block or 
otherwise prevent or prohibit restricted transactions if the procedures include the 
steps set out in paragraphs (b)(1), (b)(2), and (b)(3) of this section and subject to 
paragraph (b)(4) of this section. 
 
(1) At the establishment of the account or relationship, the participant conducts 
due diligence of a commercial customer and its activities commensurate with the 
participant's judgment of the risk of restricted transactions presented by the 
customer's business. 
 
(2) Based on its due diligence, the participant makes a determination regarding 
the risk the commercial customer presents of engaging in an Internet gambling 
business and follows either paragraph (b)(2)(i) or (b)(2)(ii) of this section. 
 
(i) The participant determines that the commercial customer presents a minimal 
risk of engaging in an Internet gambling business. 
 
(ii) The participant cannot determine that the commercial customer presents a 
minimal risk of engaging in an Internet gambling business, in which case it 
obtains the documentation in either paragraph (b)(2)(ii)(A) or (b)(2)(ii)(B) of this 
section— 
 
(A) Certification from the commercial customer that it does not engage in an 
Internet gambling business; or 
 
(B) If the commercial customer does engage in an Internet gambling business, 
each of the following— 
 
( 1 ) Evidence of legal authority to engage in the Internet gambling business, 
such as— 
 
( i ) A copy of the commercial customer's license that expressly authorizes the 
customer to engage in the Internet gambling business issued by the appropriate 
State or Tribal authority or, if the commercial customer does not have such a 
license, a reasoned legal opinion that demonstrates that the commercial 
customer's Internet gambling business does not involve restricted transactions; 
and 
 
( ii ) A written commitment by the commercial customer to notify the participant of 
any changes in its legal authority to engage in its Internet gambling business. 
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( 2 ) A third-party certification that the commercial customer's systems for 
engaging in the Internet gambling business are reasonably designed to ensure 
that the commercial customer's Internet gambling business will remain within the 
licensed or otherwise lawful limits, including with respect to age and location 
verification. 
 
(3) The participant notifies all of its commercial customers, through provisions in 
the account or commercial customer relationship agreement or otherwise, that 
restricted transactions are prohibited from being processed through the account 
or relationship. 
 
(4) With respect to the determination in paragraph (b)(2)(i) of this section, 
participants may deem the following commercial customers to present a minimal 
risk of engaging in an Internet gambling business— 
 
(i) An entity that is directly supervised by a Federal functional regulator as set out 
in §132.7(a); or 
 
(ii) An agency, department, or division of the Federal government or a State 
government. 
 
(c) Automated clearing house system examples. (1) The policies and procedures 
of the originating depository financial institution and any third party processor in 
an ACH debit transaction, and the receiving depository financial institution and 
any third party processor in an ACH credit transaction, are deemed to be 
reasonably designed to identify and block or otherwise prevent or prohibit 
restricted transactions if they— 
 
(i) Address methods to conduct due diligence in establishing a commercial 
customer account or relationship as set out in §132.6(b); 
 
(ii) Address methods to conduct due diligence as set out in § 132.6(b)(2)(ii)(B) in 
the event that the participant has actual knowledge that an existing commercial 
customer of the participant engages in an Internet gambling business; and 
 
(iii) Include procedures to be followed with respect to a commercial customer if 
the originating depository financial institution or third-party processor has actual 
knowledge that its commercial customer has originated restricted transactions as 
ACH debit transactions or if the receiving depository financial institution or third-
party processor has actual knowledge that its commercial customer has received 
restricted transactions as ACH credit transactions, such as procedures that 
address— 
 
(A) The circumstances under which the commercial customer should not be 
allowed to originate ACH debit transactions or receive ACH credit transactions; 
and 
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(B) The circumstances under which the account should be closed. 
 
(2) The policies and procedures of a receiving gateway operator and third-party 
processor that receives instructions to originate an ACH debit transaction directly 
from a foreign sender are deemed to be reasonably designed to prevent or 
prohibit restricted transactions if they include procedures to be followed with 
respect to a foreign sender if the receiving gateway operator or third-party 
processor has actual knowledge, obtained through notification by a government 
entity, such as law enforcement or a regulatory agency, that such instructions 
included instructions for restricted transactions. Such procedures may address 
sending notification to the foreign sender, such as in the form of the notice 
contained in appendix A to this part. 
 
(d) Card system examples. The policies and procedures of a card system 
operator, a merchant acquirer, third-party processor, or a card issuer, are 
deemed to be reasonably designed to identify and block or otherwise prevent or 
prohibit restricted transactions, if the policies and procedures— 
 
(1) Provide for either— 
 
(i) Methods to conduct due diligence— 
 
(A) In establishing a commercial customer account or relationship as set out in 
§132.6(b); and 
 
(B) As set out in §132.6(b)(2)(ii)(B) in the event that the participant has actual 
knowledge that an existing commercial customer of the participant engages in an 
Internet gambling business; or 
 
(ii) Implementation of a code system, such as transaction codes and 
merchant/business category codes, that are required to accompany the 
authorization request for a transaction, including— 
 
(A) The operational functionality to enable the card system operator or the card 
issuer to reasonably identify and deny authorization for a transaction that the 
coding procedure indicates may be a restricted transaction; and 
 
(B) Procedures for ongoing monitoring or testing by the card system operator to 
detect potential restricted transactions, including— 
 
( 1 ) Conducting testing to ascertain whether transaction authorization requests 
are coded correctly; and 
 
( 2 ) Monitoring and analyzing payment patterns to detect suspicious payment 
volumes from a merchant customer; and 
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(2) For the card system operator, merchant acquirer, or third-party processor, 
include procedures to be followed when the participant has actual knowledge that 
a merchant has received restricted transactions through the card system, such 
as— 
 
(i) The circumstances under which the access to the card system for the 
merchant, merchant acquirer, or third-party processor should be denied; and 
 
(ii) The circumstances under which the merchant account should be closed. 
 
(e) Check collection system examples. (1) The policies and procedures of a 
depositary bank are deemed to be reasonably designed to identify and block or 
otherwise prevent or prohibit restricted transactions, if they— 
 
(i) Address methods for the depositary bank to conduct due diligence in 
establishing a commercial customer account or relationship as set out in 
§132.6(b); 
 
(ii) Address methods for the depositary bank to conduct due diligence as set out 
in §132.6(b)(2)(ii)(B) in the event that the depositary bank has actual knowledge 
that an existing commercial customer engages in an Internet gambling business; 
and 
 
(iii) Include procedures to be followed if the depositary bank has actual 
knowledge that a commercial customer of the depositary bank has deposited 
checks that are restricted transactions, such as procedures that address— 
 
(A) The circumstances under which check collection services for the customer 
should be denied; and 
 
(B) The circumstances under which the account should be closed. 
 
(2) The policies and procedures of a depositary bank that receives checks for 
collection from a foreign banking office are deemed to be reasonably designed to 
identify and block or otherwise prevent or prohibit restricted transactions if they 
include procedures to be followed by the depositary bank when it has actual 
knowledge, obtained through notification by a government entity, such as law 
enforcement or a regulatory agency, that a foreign banking office has sent 
checks to the depositary bank that are restricted transactions. Such procedures 
may address sending notification to the foreign banking office, such as in the 
form of the notice contained in the appendix to this part. 
 
(f) Money transmitting business examples. The policies and procedures of an 
operator of a money transmitting business are deemed to be reasonably 
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designed to identify and block or otherwise prevent or prohibit restricted 
transactions if they— 
 
(1) Address methods for the operator to conduct due diligence in establishing a 
commercial customer relationship as set out in §132.6(b); 
 
(2) Address methods for the operator to conduct due diligence as set out in 
§132.6(b)(2)(ii)(B) in the event that the operator has actual knowledge that an 
existing commercial customer engages in an Internet gambling business; 
 
(3) Include procedures regarding ongoing monitoring or testing by the operator to 
detect potential restricted transactions, such as monitoring and analyzing 
payment patterns to detect suspicious payment volumes to any recipient; and 
 
(4) Include procedures when the operator has actual knowledge that a 
commercial customer of the operator has received restricted transactions through 
the money transmitting business, that address— 
 
(i) The circumstances under which money transmitting services should be denied 
to that commercial customer; and 
 
(ii) The circumstances under which the commercial customer account should be 
closed. 
 
(g) Wire transfer system examples. The policies and procedures of the 
beneficiary's bank in a wire transfer are deemed to be reasonably designed to 
identify and block or otherwise prevent or prohibit restricted transactions if they— 
 
(1) Address methods for the beneficiary's bank to conduct due diligence in 
establishing a commercial customer account as set out in §132.6(b); 
 
(2) Address methods for the beneficiary's bank to conduct due diligence as set 
out in § 132.6(b)(2)(ii)(B) in the event that the beneficiary's bank has actual 
knowledge that an existing commercial customer of the bank engages in an 
Internet gambling business; 
 
(3) Include procedures to be followed if the beneficiary's bank obtains actual 
knowledge that a commercial customer of the bank has received restricted 
transactions through the wire transfer system, such as procedures that address 
 
(i) The circumstances under which the beneficiary bank should deny wire transfer 
services to the commercial customer; and 
 
(ii) The circumstances under which the commercial customer account should be 
closed. 
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§ 132.7   Regulatory enforcement. 
 
The requirements under this part are subject to the exclusive regulatory 
enforcement of— 
 
(a) The Federal functional regulators, with respect to the designated payment 
systems and participants therein that are subject to the respective jurisdiction of 
such regulators under section 505(a) of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (15 U.S.C. 
6805(a)) and section 5g of the Commodity Exchange Act (7 U.S.C. 7b–2); and 
 
(b) The Federal Trade Commission, with respect to designated payment systems 
and participants therein not otherwise subject to the jurisdiction of any Federal 
functional regulators (including the Commission) as described in paragraph (a) of 
this section. 
 
Appendix A to Part 132mdash;Model Notice 
 
 [Date] 
 
[Name of foreign sender or foreign banking office] 
 
[Address] 
 
Re: U.S. Unlawful Internet Gambling Enforcement Act Notice 
 
Dear [Name of foreign counterparty]: 
 
On [date], U.S. government officials informed us that your institution processed 
payments through our facilities for Internet gambling transactions restricted by 
U.S. law on [dates, recipients, and other relevant information if available]. 
 
We provide this notice to comply with U.S. Government regulations implementing 
the Unlawful Internet Gambling Enforcement Act of 2006 (Act), a U.S. federal 
law. Our policies and procedures established in accordance with those 
regulations provide that we will notify a foreign counterparty if we learn that the 
counterparty has processed payments through our facilities for Internet gambling 
transactions restricted by the Act. This notice ensures that you are aware that we 
have received information that your institution has processed payments for 
Internet gambling restricted by the Act. 
 
The Act is codified in subchapter IV, chapter 53, title 31 of the U.S. Code (31 
U.S.C. 5361 et seq. ). Implementing regulations that duplicate one another can 
be found at part 233 of title 12 of the U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (12 CFR 
part 233) and part 132 of title 31 of the U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (31 
CFR part 132). 
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UIGEA Statute Discussion Questions 
 
What does the UIGEA prohibit?  
 
Does the UIGEA make online casino wagering illegal?  
 
Does the UIGEA make funding skill gaming illegal?  
 
What are the parameters for acceptable online fantasy sports exempted from the 
Act?  
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INC, a not for profit corporation of the State of New Jersey, Appellant 
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ATTORNEY GENERAL OF the UNITED STATES; Federal Trade 

Commission; Federal Reserve System. 
No. 08-1981. 

United States Court of Appeals, Third Circuit. 
Argued July 7, 2009. 

 

Filed: September 1, 2009. 
        Eric M. Bernstein (Argued) Eric M. Bernstein & Associates, Warren, 
NJ, Stephen 

[580 F.3d 114] 

A. Saltzburg (Argued) George Washington University, Washington, DC, for 
Appellant. 

        Nicholas J. Bagley (Argued) Jacqueline E. Coleman United States 
Department of Justice, Washington, DC, for Appellee. 

        Before: SLOVITER, AMBRO, and JORDAN Circuit Judges. 

 

OPINION OF THE COURT 
 

        SLOVITER, Circuit Judge. 

        Congress enacted the Unlawful Internet Gambling Enforcement Act of 
2006, 31 U.S.C. § 5361 et seq. (the "Act"), because "traditional law 
enforcement mechanisms are often inadequate for enforcing gambling 
prohibitions or regulations on the Internet, especially where such gambling 
crosses State or national borders." 31 U.S.C. § 5361(a)(4). Congress also 
found that "Internet gambling is primarily funded through personal use of 
payment system instruments, credit cards, and wire transfers." 31 U.S.C. § 
5361(a)(1). 

        Appellant Interactive Media Entertainment & Gaming Association, Inc. 
("Interactive"), is a New Jersey not-for-profit corporation that collects and 
disseminates information related to electronic and Internet-based gaming 
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and whose members are businesses that provide gaming services, 
including Internet gambling, to individuals located throughout the United 
States and the world. It raises a number of facial constitutional challenges 
to the Act. The District Court dismissed Interactive's claims, some on 
standing grounds and others on the merits. It appeals. 

 

I. 
 

        The Act provides that "[n]o person engaged in the business of betting 
or wagering1 may knowingly accept, in the connection with the participation 
of another person in unlawful Internet gambling," various forms of financial 
instruments (such as credit cards, electronic fund transfers and checks). 
31 U.S.C. § 5363. The Act defines "unlawful Internet gambling" as "to 
place, receive, or otherwise knowingly transmit a bet or wager by any 
means which involves the use, at least in part, of the Internet where such 
bet or wager is unlawful under any applicable Federal or State law in the 
State or Tribal lands in which the bet or wager is initiated, received, or 
otherwise made." 31 U.S.C. § 5362(10)(A). 

        Any person who violates § 5363 commits a crime punishable by fine 
and/or up to five years imprisonment. 31 U.S.C. § 5366(a). Moreover, upon 
conviction of that criminal offense, the defendant may be permanently 
enjoined from engaging in the making of bets or wagers. 31 U.S.C. § 
5366(b). Finally, the Act also provides that federal and state authorities 
may bring civil proceedings to enjoin any transaction prohibited under the 
Act, 31 U.S.C. § 5365, and mandates that the Secretary of the Treasury 
and the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System enact 
regulations requiring certain financial institutions "to identify and block or 
otherwise prevent or prohibit" the transactions barred by § 5363. 31 U.S.C. 
§ 5364(b)(1).2 

        Interactive filed a complaint alleging that the Act was facially 
unconstitutional [580 F.3d 115]and contrary to the United States' treaty 
obligations. It sought to enjoin the enforcement of the Act as well as the 
promulgation of regulations thereunder. After Interactive moved for a 
preliminary injunction, the District Court granted the Government's cross-
motion to dismiss the complaint. 

        Interactive claimed the Act violated the First Amendment and the 
Government argued that Interactive lacked standing. The District Court 
rejected the Government's standing defense but, when it reached the 



 Page 83 
 

merits, it rejected Interactive's expressive association claim because the 
Act "does not have any adverse impact, much less a significant one, on the 
ability of the plaintiff and its members to express their views on Internet 
gambling." App. at 21. Indeed, the District Court noted that the conduct 
prohibited by the Act — the taking of another's money in connection with 
illegal gambling — does not involve any "communicative element" and 
"essentially facilitates another's criminal act." App. at 23. 

        Next, the District Court rejected Interactive's commercial speech claim 
because the Act "does not actually implicate First Amendment interests" 
given that the "acceptance of a financial transfer is not speech," and even 
if it were, the Act only applies where the transfer is related to illegal 
gambling. App. at 25. 

        The District Court also rejected Interactive's overbreadth and 
vagueness arguments. As to the First Amendment overbreadth argument, 
the Court concluded that the Act "does not implicate any form of protected 
expression, and thus there is no overbreadth problem." App. at 26. As to 
the due process vagueness claim, the Court rejected that argument 
because the Act's prohibitions "are not `in terms so vague that persons of 
ordinary intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to 
its application.'" App. at 26 (quoting Am. Civil Liberties Union v. Ashcroft, 
322 F.3d 240, 268 (3d Cir.2003)). 

        The District Court also rejected Interactive's claim that the Act violates 
the privacy rights of individual gamblers betting online from their homes on 
the ground that Interactive lacked standing to assert claims on behalf of 
such gamblers. In the alternative, it rejected Interactive's privacy claim on 
the merits because the gamblers' conduct did not implicate any substantive 
due process rights. 

        The District Court also rejected Interactive's claims that the Act 
violates the United States' treaty obligations on standing grounds and, 
alternatively, on the merits. It rejected Interactive's claim that the Act 
violates the ex post facto clause because the Act is purely prospective. 
Finally, it rejected Interactive's Tenth Amendment claim because, as a 
private party, it lacked standing to pursue it.3 

 

II. 
 

        Interactive raises two primary arguments on appeal. First, it contends 

https://apps.fastcase.com/Research/Pages/Document.aspx?LTID=IOwvpmmuBcDt4cJTpe7Vsf4EWhkwD2WWp6XN1Syc2nS9jtPuSbQJjMEA0h5m1DHyH1k6qYB8i%2fsQKr2PQxglf5Gd4yZaq0JWnvtOv6vWMeVYpXJ3CKRHWLmhugifIQYZ&ECF=Am.+Civil+Liberties+Union+v.+Ashcroft%2c+322+F.3d+240%2c+268+(3d+Cir.2003)
https://apps.fastcase.com/Research/Pages/Document.aspx?LTID=IOwvpmmuBcDt4cJTpe7Vsf4EWhkwD2WWp6XN1Syc2nS9jtPuSbQJjMEA0h5m1DHyH1k6qYB8i%2fsQKr2PQxglf5Gd4yZaq0JWnvtOv6vWMeVYpXJ3CKRHWLmhugifIQYZ&ECF=Am.+Civil+Liberties+Union+v.+Ashcroft%2c+322+F.3d+240%2c+268+(3d+Cir.2003)
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that the Act is void for vagueness because the statutory phrase "unlawful 
Internet gambling" lacks an "ascertainable and workable definition." 
Appellant's Br. at 25.4 

[580 F.3d 116] 

        The Supreme Court has explained that a statute is unconstitutionally 
vague if it "fails to provide a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice of 
what is prohibited, or is so standardless that it authorizes or encourages 
seriously discriminatory enforcement." United States v. Williams, ___ U.S. 
___, 128 S.Ct. 1830, 1845, 170 L.Ed.2d 650 (2008). Where, as here, a 
plaintiff raises a facial challenge to a statute on vagueness grounds, the 
plaintiff "must demonstrate that the law is impermissibly vague in all of its 
applications." Village of Hoffman Estates v. Flipside, Hoffman Estates, Inc., 
455 U.S. 489, 497, 102 S.Ct. 1186, 71 L.Ed.2d 362 (1982) (emphasis 
added). 

        We reject Interactive's vagueness claim. The Act prohibits a gambling 
business from knowingly accepting certain financial instruments from an 
individual who places a bet over the Internet if such gambling is illegal at 
the location in which the business is located or from which the individual 
initiates the bet. 31 U.S.C. §§ 5362(10)(A), 5363. Thus, the Act clearly 
provides a person of ordinary intelligence with adequate notice of the 
conduct that it prohibits. 

        Further, the Act cannot be deemed impermissibly vague in all its 
applications. For example, several states prohibit all gambling activity 
(except non-commercial, social gambling not at issue here) by persons 
within the state and/or specifically ban Internet gambling. See, e.g., Haw. 
Rev.Stat. §§ 712-1220(4), 712-1223; Or. Rev.Stat. § 167.109. Thus, if a 
person in Hawaii places a bet over the Internet, a gambling business that 
knowingly accepts a financial instrument in connection with that bet would 
unambiguously be acting in violation of the Act. Similarly, a gambling 
business located in Oregon would violate the Act if it knowingly accepted a 
financial instrument in connection with Internet gambling prohibited by that 
state's law. 

        It is true, as Interactive notes, that the Act does not itself outlaw 
any gambling activity, but rather incorporates other Federal or State 
law related to gambling.5 See 31 U.S.C. § 5362(10). However, "a statute 
is not unconstitutionally vague merely because it incorporates other 
provisions by reference; a reasonable person of ordinary intelligence would 
consult the incorporated provisions." United States v. Iverson, 162 F.3d 

https://apps.fastcase.com/Research/Pages/Document.aspx?LTID=IOwvpmmuBcDt4cJTpe7Vsf4EWhkwD2WWp6XN1Syc2nS9jtPuSbQJjMEA0h5m1DHyH1k6qYB8i%2fsQKr2PQxglf5Gd4yZaq0JWnvtOv6vWMeVYpXJ3CKRHWLmhugifIQYZ&ECF=128+S.Ct.+1830%2c+1845
https://apps.fastcase.com/Research/Pages/Document.aspx?LTID=IOwvpmmuBcDt4cJTpe7Vsf4EWhkwD2WWp6XN1Syc2nS9jtPuSbQJjMEA0h5m1DHyH1k6qYB8i%2fsQKr2PQxglf5Gd4yZaq0JWnvtOv6vWMeVYpXJ3CKRHWLmhugifIQYZ&ECF=170+L.Ed.2d+650+(2008)
https://apps.fastcase.com/Research/Pages/Document.aspx?LTID=IOwvpmmuBcDt4cJTpe7Vsf4EWhkwD2WWp6XN1Syc2nS9jtPuSbQJjMEA0h5m1DHyH1k6qYB8i%2fsQKr2PQxglf5Gd4yZaq0JWnvtOv6vWMeVYpXJ3CKRHWLmhugifIQYZ&ECF=Village+of+Hoffman+Estates+v.+Flipside%2c+Hoffman+Estates%2c+Inc.%2c+455+U.S.+489%2c+497
https://apps.fastcase.com/Research/Pages/Document.aspx?LTID=IOwvpmmuBcDt4cJTpe7Vsf4EWhkwD2WWp6XN1Syc2nS9jtPuSbQJjMEA0h5m1DHyH1k6qYB8i%2fsQKr2PQxglf5Gd4yZaq0JWnvtOv6vWMeVYpXJ3CKRHWLmhugifIQYZ&ECF=Village+of+Hoffman+Estates+v.+Flipside%2c+Hoffman+Estates%2c+Inc.%2c+455+U.S.+489%2c+497
https://apps.fastcase.com/Research/Pages/Document.aspx?LTID=IOwvpmmuBcDt4cJTpe7Vsf4EWhkwD2WWp6XN1Syc2nS9jtPuSbQJjMEA0h5m1DHyH1k6qYB8i%2fsQKr2PQxglf5Gd4yZaq0JWnvtOv6vWMeVYpXJ3CKRHWLmhugifIQYZ&ECF=102+S.Ct.+1186
https://apps.fastcase.com/Research/Pages/Document.aspx?LTID=IOwvpmmuBcDt4cJTpe7Vsf4EWhkwD2WWp6XN1Syc2nS9jtPuSbQJjMEA0h5m1DHyH1k6qYB8i%2fsQKr2PQxglf5Gd4yZaq0JWnvtOv6vWMeVYpXJ3CKRHWLmhugifIQYZ&ECF=71+L.Ed.2d+362+(1982)
https://apps.fastcase.com/Research/Pages/Document.aspx?LTID=IOwvpmmuBcDt4cJTpe7Vsf4EWhkwD2WWp6XN1Syc2nS9jtPuSbQJjMEA0h5m1DHyH1k6qYB8i%2fsQKr2PQxglf5Gd4yZaq0JWnvtOv6vWMeVYpXJ3CKRHWLmhugifIQYZ&ECF=United+States+v.+Iverson%2c+162+F.3d+1015%2c+1021+(9th+Cir.1998)
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1015, 1021 (9th Cir.1998). Similarly, the fact that gambling may be 
prohibited in some states but permitted in others does not render the Act 
unconstitutionally vague. See United States v. Tripp, 782 F.2d 38, 42 (6th 
Cir.1986) (noting that a federal criminal statute may "incorporate[] state law 
for purposes of defining illegal conduct . . . even if the result is that conduct 
that is lawful under the federal statute in one state is unlawful in another"). 

        Interactive also contends that it will often be difficult to determine the 
jurisdiction from which an individual gambler initiates a bet over the 
Internet, and consequently, whether the bet is unlawful. However, "[w]hat 
renders a statute vague [580 F.3d 117] is not the possibility that it will 
sometimes be difficult to determine whether the incriminating fact it 
establishes has been proved; but rather the indeterminacy of precisely 
what that fact is."6 Williams, 128 S.Ct. at 1846; see also Trojan Techs., Inc. 
v. Pennsylvania, 916 F.2d 903, 915 (3d Cir.1990) ("Inability to satisfy a 
clear but demanding standard is different from inability in the first instance 
to determine what the standard is."). 

        Interactive also raises a hypothetical in which a gambler in a state 
that prohibits all gambling makes a bet over the Internet with a gambling 
business in a foreign jurisdiction that permits such activity. According to 
Interactive, if the law of the foreign jurisdiction provides that the bet is 
deemed to be placed and received in that jurisdiction, the Act becomes 
unconstitutionally vague because it is impossible to know where the bet 
was placed as a matter of law. 

        However, Interactive does not point to anything in the language of the 
Act to suggest that Congress meant anything other than the physical 
location of a bettor or gambling business in the definition of "unlawful 
Internet gambling." Further, to the extent that Interactive's hypothetical 
raises a vagueness problem, it is not with the Act, but rather with the 
underlying state law. It bears repeating that the Act itself does not make 
any gambling activity illegal. Whether the transaction in Interactive's 
hypothetical constitutes unlawful Internet gambling turns on how the law of 
the state from which the bettor initiates the bet would treat that bet, i.e., if it 
is illegal under that state's law, it constitutes "unlawful Internet gambling" 
under the Act. 

        In sum, we must reject Interactive's facial challenge to the Act. Simply 
put, a gambling business cannot knowingly accept the enumerated 
financial instruments in connection with a bet that is illegal under any 
Federal or State law applicable in the jurisdiction in which the bet is 
initiated or received. Thus, the Act "provide[s] a person of ordinary 

https://apps.fastcase.com/Research/Pages/Document.aspx?LTID=IOwvpmmuBcDt4cJTpe7Vsf4EWhkwD2WWp6XN1Syc2nS9jtPuSbQJjMEA0h5m1DHyH1k6qYB8i%2fsQKr2PQxglf5Gd4yZaq0JWnvtOv6vWMeVYpXJ3CKRHWLmhugifIQYZ&ECF=United+States+v.+Iverson%2c+162+F.3d+1015%2c+1021+(9th+Cir.1998)
https://apps.fastcase.com/Research/Pages/Document.aspx?LTID=IOwvpmmuBcDt4cJTpe7Vsf4EWhkwD2WWp6XN1Syc2nS9jtPuSbQJjMEA0h5m1DHyH1k6qYB8i%2fsQKr2PQxglf5Gd4yZaq0JWnvtOv6vWMeVYpXJ3CKRHWLmhugifIQYZ&ECF=United+States+v.+Tripp%2c+782+F.2d+38%2c+42+(6th+Cir.1986)
https://apps.fastcase.com/Research/Pages/Document.aspx?LTID=IOwvpmmuBcDt4cJTpe7Vsf4EWhkwD2WWp6XN1Syc2nS9jtPuSbQJjMEA0h5m1DHyH1k6qYB8i%2fsQKr2PQxglf5Gd4yZaq0JWnvtOv6vWMeVYpXJ3CKRHWLmhugifIQYZ&ECF=United+States+v.+Tripp%2c+782+F.2d+38%2c+42+(6th+Cir.1986)
https://apps.fastcase.com/Research/Pages/Document.aspx?LTID=IOwvpmmuBcDt4cJTpe7Vsf4EWhkwD2WWp6XN1Syc2nS9jtPuSbQJjMEA0h5m1DHyH1k6qYB8i%2fsQKr2PQxglf5Gd4yZaq0JWnvtOv6vWMeVYpXJ3CKRHWLmhugifIQYZ&ECF=128+S.Ct.+at+1846
https://apps.fastcase.com/Research/Pages/Document.aspx?LTID=IOwvpmmuBcDt4cJTpe7Vsf4EWhkwD2WWp6XN1Syc2nS9jtPuSbQJjMEA0h5m1DHyH1k6qYB8i%2fsQKr2PQxglf5Gd4yZaq0JWnvtOv6vWMeVYpXJ3CKRHWLmhugifIQYZ&ECF=Trojan+Techs.%2c+Inc.+v.+Pennsylvania%2c+916+F.2d+903%2c+915+(3d+Cir.1990)
https://apps.fastcase.com/Research/Pages/Document.aspx?LTID=IOwvpmmuBcDt4cJTpe7Vsf4EWhkwD2WWp6XN1Syc2nS9jtPuSbQJjMEA0h5m1DHyH1k6qYB8i%2fsQKr2PQxglf5Gd4yZaq0JWnvtOv6vWMeVYpXJ3CKRHWLmhugifIQYZ&ECF=Trojan+Techs.%2c+Inc.+v.+Pennsylvania%2c+916+F.2d+903%2c+915+(3d+Cir.1990)
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intelligence fair notice of what is prohibited." Williams, 128 S.Ct. at 1845. 

 

III. 
 

        Next, Interactive contends that the District Court erred in rejecting its 
claim that the Act violated a constitutional right of individuals to engage in 
gambling-related activity in the privacy of their homes. As noted above, the 
District Court held that Interactive lacked standing to assert the rights of 
third-party gamblers, and alternatively, that the claim failed on the merits. 

        "It is a well-established tenet of standing that a `litigant must assert 
his or her own legal rights and interests, and cannot rest a claim to relief 
on the legal rights or interests of third parties.'" Pennsylvania Psychiatric 
Soc'y v. Green Spring Health Servs., Inc., 280 F.3d 278, 288 (3d Cir. 2002) 
(quoting Powers v. Ohio, 499 U.S. 400, 410, 111 S.Ct. 1364, 113 L.Ed.2d 
411 (1991)). However, this "prohibition is not [580 F.3d 118] invariable and 
our jurisprudence recognizes third-party standing under certain 
circumstances." Id. Indeed, the third-party standing doctrine is not rooted in 
the constitutional requirements for standing. Instead, "courts have imposed 
a set of prudential limitations on the exercise of federal jurisdiction over 
third-party claims." Id. at 287 (citing Bennett v. Spear, 520 U.S. 154, 162, 
117 S.Ct. 1154, 137 L.Ed.2d 281 (1997)). 

        "To successfully assert third-party standing: (1) the plaintiff must 
suffer injury; (2) the plaintiff and the third party must have a `close 
relationship'; and (3) the third party must face some obstacles that prevent 
it from pursuing its own claims." Nasir v. Morgan, 350 F.3d 366, 376 (3d 
Cir.2003).7 The District Court concluded that Interactive could not satisfy 
either the second or third prongs of this test. We share the District Court's 
doubts regarding Interactive's standing to assert these claims, particularly 
because Interactive does not itself have any relationship with individual 
gamblers, but rather seeks to assert third-party standing based on its 
members' relationships with such gamblers. However, as noted above, the 
limitations on third-party standing are prudential requirements developed 
by the courts, not jurisdictional requirements imposed by Article III of the 
constitution. Accordingly, we need not decide whether Interactive has 
standing because, even assuming that it does, we agree with the District 
Court that Interactive's claim clearly fails on the merits. 

        In its effort to locate a constitutional privacy right to engage in Internet 
gambling from one's home, Interactive looks primarily to Lawrence v. 
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Texas, 539 U.S. 558, 123 S.Ct. 2472, 156 L.Ed.2d 508 (2003), and 
Reliable Consultants, Inc. v. Earle, 517 F.3d 738 (5th Cir.2008). 
Interactive's reliance on those cases is misplaced. 

        Both Lawrence and Earle involved state laws that barred certain 
forms of sexual conduct between consenting adults in the privacy of the 
home. Lawrence, 539 U.S. at 567, 123 S.Ct. 2472; Earle, 517 F.3d at 744. 
As the Supreme Court explained in Lawrence, such laws "touch[] upon the 
most private human conduct, sexual behavior, and in the most private of 
places, the home." 539 U.S. at 567, 123 S.Ct. 2472. Gambling, even in the 
home, simply does not involve any individual interests of the same 
constitutional magnitude. Accordingly, such conduct is not protected by 
any right to privacy under the constitution.8 Cf. Am. Future Sys., Inc. v. 
Pennsylvania State Univ., 688 F.2d 907, 915-16 (3d Cir.1982) ("We are 
unwilling to extend the constitutional right of privacy to commercial 
transactions completely unrelated to fundamental personal rights. . . ."). 

[580 F.3d 119] 

 

IV. 
 

        For the above-stated reasons, we will affirm the judgment of the 
District Court. 

--------------- 

Notes: 

 

1. The phrase "`business of betting or wagering' does not include the activities of a 
financial transaction provider, or any interactive computer service or telecommunications 
service." 31 U.S.C. § 5362(2). Thus, the criminal prohibition contained in § 5363 of the 
Act applies only to gambling-related businesses, not any financial intermediary or 
Internet-service provider whose services are used in connection with an unlawful bet. 

2. The Department of the Treasury and Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve have 
jointly adopted a final rule to implement this statutory mandate. Prohibition on Funding of 
Unlawful Internet Gambling, 73 Fed.Reg. 69382-01 (November 18, 2008). Those 
regulations are not at issue here. 

3. The District Court had jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331. We have jurisdiction 
under 28 U.S.C. § 1291. We review de novo a district court's grant of a motion to dismiss 
for failure to state a claim. Sands v. McCormick, 502 F.3d 263, 267 (3d Cir.2007). 
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4. The government contends that Interactive waived its vagueness argument because it 
did not raise the issue before the District Court. Although Interactive did not include a 
separate count in its complaint raising its vagueness claim, its complaint did allege that 
the Act failed to give adequate notice of the conduct criminalized — the gravamen of a 
vagueness challenge. Moreover, the District Court deemed the issue to be before it and 
rejected Interactive's claim on the merits. The issue is properly before us. 

5. Relatedly, Interactive notes that some of its members operate gambling websites from 
outside the United States and contends that the Act is ambiguous as to whether such 
members could face criminal sanctions under the Act if they engaged in financial 
transactions with a gambler who placed a bet from a state that prohibited such gambling. 
However, the Act unambiguously prohibits such transactions and we note that it "has 
long been settled law that a country can regulate conduct occurring outside its territory 
which causes harmful results within its territory." Laker Airways Ltd. v. Sabena, Belgian 
World Airlines, 731 F.2d 909, 922 (D.C.Cir.1984). 

6. Interactive also contends the Act's requirement that certain financial institutions create 
procedures to block transactions prohibited by the Act encourages arbitrary and 
discriminatory enforcement of the Act. However, these financial institutions are only 
required to block transactions prohibited by § 5363, and as discussed above, we 
conclude that § 5363 provides adequate notice so as to avoid any vagueness problem. 
Moreover, we note that the duty of financial institutions to block or restrict transactions 
barred by the Act is not materially different from similar duties imposed on financial 
institutions under other federal law. See H.R.Rep. No. 109-412, pt. 1, at 11 (2006). 

7. As the District Court correctly held, Interactive cannot assert standing for this claim 
based on principles of associational standing because it does not allege that individual 
gamblers, as opposed to gambling-related businesses, are among its members. 

8. Before the District Court, Interactive primarily pursued a claim that the Act violated the 
First Amendment. Although Interactive stated at oral argument that it had not abandoned 
that claim, it only tangentially mentions this argument in its papers to this court. In any 
event, the Act only criminalizes the knowing acceptance of certain financial instruments 
in connection with unlawful gambling. Simply put, such conduct lacks any 
"communicative element" sufficient to bring it within the ambit of the First Amendment. 
United States v. O'Brien, 391 U.S. 367, 376, 88 S.Ct. 1673, 20 L.Ed.2d 672 (1968). 
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The Illegal Gambling Business Act 
The Illegal Gambling Business Act (the “IGBA”) is a powerful statute that makes 

it a federal crime to engage in interstate gambling that violates the laws of any state in 

which the gambling occurs, provided the gambling business meets minimum size 

requirements.  Much like the impetus for the Federal Wire Act, the purpose of the IGBA 

was to strike at the illegal endeavors of syndicated gambling. 

The text of the essential element of the statute are set forth as follows: 

18 U.S.C. §1955.  Prohibition of illegal gambling businesses 

(a) Whoever conducts, finances, manages, supervises, directs, or owns all or part 

of an illegal gambling business shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not 

more than five years, or both. 

(b) As used in this section— 

(1) “illegal gambling business” means a gambling business which— 

(i) is a violation of the law of a State or political subdivision in 

which it is conducted; 

(ii) involves five or more persons who conduct, finance, manage, 

supervise, direct, or own all or part of such business; and 

(iii) has been or remains in substantially continuous operation for a 

period in excess of thirty days or has a gross revenue of $2,000 in 

any single day. 

(2) “gambling” includes but is not limited to pool-selling, bookmaking, 

maintaining slot machines, roulette wheels or dice tables, and conducting 

lotteries, policy, bolita or numbers games, or selling chances therein. 
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(3) “State” means any State of the United States, the District of Columbia, 

the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, and any territory or possession of the 

United States. 

(c) If five or more persons conduct, finance, manage, supervise, direct, or own all 

or part of a gambling business and such business operates for two or more 

successive days, then, for the purpose of obtaining warrants for arrests, 

interceptions, and other searches and seizures, probable cause that the business 

receives gross revenue in excess of $2,000 in any single day shall be deemed to 

have been established. 

(d) Any property, including money, used in violation of the provisions of this 

section may be seized and forfeited to the United States. All provisions of law 

relating to the seizures, summary, and judicial forfeiture procedures, and 

condemnation of vessels, vehicles, merchandise, and baggage for violation of the 

customs laws; the disposition of such vessels, vehicles, merchandise, and baggage 

or the proceeds from such sale; the remission or mitigation of such forfeitures; 

and the compromise of claims and the award of compensation to informers in 

respect of such forfeitures shall apply to seizures and forfeitures incurred or 

alleged to have been incurred under the provisions of this section, insofar as 

applicable and not inconsistent with such provisions. Such duties as are imposed 

upon the collector of customs or any other person in respect to the seizure and 

forfeiture of vessels, vehicles, merchandise, and baggage under the customs laws 

shall be performed with respect to seizures and forfeitures of property used or 
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intended for use in violation of this section by such officers, agents, or other 

persons as may be designated for that purpose by the Attorney General. 

(e) This section shall not apply to any bingo game, lottery, or similar game of 

chance conducted by an organization exempt from tax under paragraph (3) of 

subsection (c) of section 501 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, 

any private shareholder, member, or employee of such organization except as 

compensation for actual expenses incurred by him in the conduct of such activity. 

The Supreme Court has concluded that “conduct” can be “any degree of participation in 

an illegal gambling business except participation as a customer.”iii  Most circuits have 

adopted a simple test: a person “conducts” a gambling business if he or she performs 

any function that is “necessary or helpful in” the business.iv  Under this analysis, 

virtually all, if not all, employees count toward the minimum requirement and are 

subject to liability. Perhaps the extreme limit of this test is illustrated by the Sixth 

Circuit case where the court held that a janitor that cleaned and straightened up a 

gambling room “conducted” the gambling operation.v 

 

THE MERRELL OPINION 

 

United States Court of Appeals, 

Sixth Circuit. 

UNITED STATES of America, Plaintiff-Appellee, 

v. 

Buster MERRELL, Defendant-Appellant. 
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  Defendant was convicted in the United States District Court for the 

Eastern District of Michigan, Robert E. DeMascio, J., of conducting an 

illegal gambling business, and he appealed.   The Court of Appeals, 

Contie, Circuit Judge, held that:  (1) actions of defendant, who acted as 

waiter and janitor in gambling house, aided gambling operation, and 

therefore his conviction was proper, and (2) persons who regularly aid 

gambling enterprises are subject to prosecution under statute for 

conducting an illegal gambling business, even though their conduct may 

not be strictly necessary to success of such businesses. 

  Affirmed. 

Before, KENNEDY, CONTIE and WELLFORD, Circuit Judges. 

  CONTIE, Circuit Judge. 

  Buster Merrell appeals his conviction under 18 U.S.C. §  1955 for 

conducting an illegal gambling business.   He was sentenced to two years 

probation.   We affirm. 

  The facts are undisputed.   Between May 11, 1979 and April 19, 1980, 

government agents undertook surveillance of 19733 Omira, Detroit, 

Michigan. The authorities suspected that illegal gambling was occurring 

on the premises. After photographing and videotaping activity transpiring 

outside the address, the agents legally planted a video camera and 
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microphone within the house and tapped two telephones.   The videotape, 

which was the main prosecution evidence at trial, clearly indicated that an 

illegal dice game was being operated every Monday and Friday night 

during the time period in question. 

  On April 19, 1980, government agents raided the premises and arrested 

Merrell and others.   Thirteen persons were charged with violating both 18 

U.S.C. §  1955, conducting an illegal gambling business, and 18 U.S.C. §  

371, conspiracy to commit the underlying substantive offense.   Trial of all 

defendants commenced on December 14, 1981.   Three days into the 

proceedings, eight defendants pleaded guilty.   They were the lessor of the 

premises, the game operator, three dealers and three watchmen/doormen.   

The remaining five, including Merrell, waived their right to a jury trial. 

  The district court acquitted four of the defendants on both counts because 

they were mere bettors whose actions were not proscribed by section 

1955. Although Merrell was acquitted of conspiracy, he was convicted of 

the substantive offense.   The district court found that appellant performed 

several jobs which aided the gambling operation.   For instance, Merrell 

regularly served coffee to bettors during gambling sessions.   Immediately 

after these sessions, he usually stacked tables and chairs, swept the floors, 

cleaned ash trays and replaced the tables and chairs in preparation for 

future sessions.  The sole issue raised on appeal is whether section 1955 

makes criminal the waiters' and janitors' functions performed by the 

defendant. [Footnote 1. The record does not indicate whether Merrell was 
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compensated for his services.   The point is insignificant because the 

government need not prove that appellant was paid in order to obtain a 

conviction.  United States v. Rowland, 592 F.2d 327 (6th Cir.1979).] 

  The Supreme Court has stated that section 1955 "proscribes any degree 

of participation in an illegal gambling business, except participation as a 

mere bettor."  Sanabria v. United States, 437 U.S. 54, 70 n. 26, 98 S.Ct. 

2170, 2182, 57 L.Ed.2d 43 (1978).   The courts of appeals have also 

recognized that only customers are outside the purview of the statute.   

See, e.g., United States v. Leon, 534 F.2d 667, 676 (6th Cir.1976);  United 

States v. Reeder, 614 F.2d 1179, 1182 (8th Cir.1980).  Section 1955 

covers both "high level bosses and street level employees."   1970 

U.S.Code Cong. & Ad.News 4007, 4029.  Thus, this circuit has held that 

runners, telephone clerks, salesmen, dealers, doormen and watchmen 

"conduct" gambling businesses within the meaning of the statute.  Leon, 

supra at 676.   Since performing janitorial and service functions is not 

mere gambling, [Foot Note 2 - The record reflects that in addition to his 

other activities, Merrell did gamble.   The Sanabria exception to criminal 

liability only applies, however, to those whose sole role is that of bettor.   

Persons who wager and otherwise participate in the operation may be 

prosecuted because the contrary result would encourage a subterfuge, i.e., 

all participants could avoid liability by placing an occasional bet.   See 

United States v. Colacurcio, 659 F.2d 684, 688 (5th Cir.1981).] the 
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question is whether Merrell's actions constitute "participation" in an illegal 

enterprise under the Sanabria test. 

  Merrell contends that his conduct does not amount to participation.   He 

relies primarily on United States v. Boss, 671 F.2d 396 (10th Cir.1982), in 

which the tenth circuit held that waitresses whose sole function was to 

serve drinks both to dance hall patrons and to gamblers in an adjacent 

room were not subject to prosecution under section 1955.   The Boss court 

reasoned that the statute only reached conduct strictly necessary to the 

operation of a gambling business.   To extend the statute further allegedly 

might ensnare persons that Congress never intended.   Since a gambling 

enterprise can operate without waitresses serving drinks to bettors, the 

waitresses were not conducting a gambling business within the meaning of 

the statute. 

  Merrell argues that under the Boss necessity test, runners, dealers, guards 

and the like may be prosecuted because such persons either are integral to 

the efficient operation of a gambling enterprise or provide security and 

protection.   A gambling business could not long operate without them. 

Conversely, such an enterprise could easily function without the services 

of waiters or janitors.   Merrell therefore asserts that the conviction should 

be reversed. 

The major flaw in appellant's argument is that the strict necessity test has 

only been adopted by the Boss court.   The prevailing rule is that one 

"conducts" a gambling business if that person performs any act, duty or 
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function which is necessary or helpful in operating the enterprise.  See 

United States v. Colacurcio, 659 F.2d 684, 688 (5th Cir.1981);  United 

States v. Tucker, 638 F.2d 1292, 1296 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 

833, 102 S.Ct. 132, 70 L.Ed.2d 111 (1981);  United States v. Greco, 619 

F.2d 635, 638 (7th Cir.1980);  United States v. Reeder, 614 F.2d 1179, 

1182 n. 2 (8th Cir.1980);  United States v. Bennett, 563 F.2d 879, 882 n. 4 

& 883 (8th Cir.1977).   Merrell's actions clearly aided the gambling 

operation involved here.   By serving coffee, appellant helped the bettors 

to continue wagering without interruption.   See Tucker, supra at 1296;  

Bennett, supra at 883.   By cleaning up and preparing the gambling area 

for future sessions, appellant helped to provide an attractive place for 

bettors to congregate in order to wager.   In light of the authorities from 

the fifth, seventh and eighth circuits, we hold that persons who regularly 

aid gambling enterprises should be subject to prosecution under section 

1955 even though their conduct may not be strictly necessary to the 

success of such businesses. [Foot Note 3 - The fifth circuit stated in 

Tucker, supra that persons employed by gambling enterprises on a 

continuous basis, and whose duties require them directly to serve 

gamblers, are subject to prosecution under section 1955.   Appellant's 

conduct fits that description.]  Since the Boss case ruled to the contrary, 

we decline to follow it. 

  Upholding the district court's judgment will not result in future 

convictions of persons that Congress never intended.   The record clearly 
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indicates that appellant regularly and consistently performed his duties.   

That fact distinguishes this case from the situation in which, for example, 

a mere bettor serves a drink or helps to clean up in an isolated instance.   

Secondly, and unlike the situation in Boss, Merrell regularly worked for 

an enterprise whose sole purpose was to promote illegal wagering.   

Consequently, appellant cannot reasonably claim that he unknowingly or 

unwittingly facilitated gambling. 

  Since appellant knowingly and regularly aided the gambling business in 

question, the district court acted properly in convicting him.   Accordingly, 

the judgment is AFFIRMED. 

 

Application to Online Gaming 
 
Recently, the three largest online gaming sites that took wagers from U.S. players, Poker 

Stars, Full Tilt and Absolute Poker were indicted for violating the IGBA in addition to 

violating other financial related crimes.vi   The IGBA is the central gaming statute in the 

indictment.  As part of the indictment, the DOJ has chosen to allege that Poker Stars, Full 

Tilt and Absolute Poker took poker wagers from New York players in violation of New 

York’s state gambling prohibitions. 

 
The matter is still pending and no court opinions have been issued at this time.  
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NEVADA 
 
In 2001, the online gaming industry was accelerating at a rapid pace.  Projections at the 

time estimated that the industry would be a four billion dollar a year industry by 2002 and 

would continue to grow into a twenty-four billion dollar a year industry by 2010. 

 

Nevada has historically been a leader in well-regulated gaming, and the prospect of a 

large unregulated gaming market was a concern for the state.  Many leading land based 

companies were concerned that fly-by-night online operators or unscrupulous online 

operators could negatively impact the reputation of gaming overall including the hard 

fought legitimacy won by regulated gaming over the past several decades.  Many of these 

concerns with the new online market were related to the same concerns that Nevada had 

in implementing a strong regulatory and enforcement regime to address land-based 

gaming. 

 

Additionally, there were competitive issue concerns.  If someone could enter the gaming 

market with little capital, how would this impact the capital intensive business of land-

based gaming.  Intertwined with this is the state’s interest in maximizing investment, 

employment and tourism to the state, while maintaining the reputation and economic 

viability of the industry in the state.  The competitive issues were also closely tied to the 

consumer protection and industrial reputational issues, because a low barrier of entry, 

unregulated gaming business could attract suppliers of questionable character that may be 

tempted by quick revenue generation without regard for laws, general standards of 
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decency or the impact on the reputation of the industry or the interest of governments in 

balancing the economic benefits of gaming with the social risks through regulation. 

 

In Nevada’s 71st legislative session, the Nevada legislature responded to this challenge by 

passing amendments to Nevada's statutes to permit regulated and licensed interactive 

gaming in Nevada.  The passage was the topic of substantial debate and discussion.  The 

need to balance the competitive needs of the market, the needs of the state, the economic 

benefits of gaming in the state, the preservation and promotion of land based gaming, and 

the preservation of the reputation of gaming as a legitimate portion of the entertainment 

sector of the economy weighed heavy on the members of the legislature.  The balance 

struck was that only operators with significant land based investment and a proven track 

record would be permitted to be online or interactive operators.  This would ensure that 

operators would have more at risk that the online site or its operations, as such operators 

would be risking disciplinary action against their entire operations and potentially their 

gaming licenses overall if their interactive (online) operations were not in compliance 

with the letter and spirit of the laws and regulations under which they are subject.  The 

measure was signed into law by Governor Kenny Guinn on June 14th, 2001. 

 

The 2001 legislation was not limited to any particular games and the Nevada Gaming 

Commission (the “Commission”) has broad authority to enact regulations, but not until 

the Commission first determined that : 

1. Interactive gaming can be operated in compliance with all applicable laws. 
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2. Interactive gaming systems were secure, reliable and provided reasonable 

assurances that players were from lawful jurisdictions and of lawful age 

to play. 

3. Such regulations are consistent with the public policy of the State and foster 

the success of gaming. 

Hearings were held in 2001 and 2002, and the Nevada State Gaming Control Board (the 

“Board”) and Commission investigated interactive gaming technologies, other laws, and 

regulations from other jurisdictions.  These efforts came to an end when, after receiving a 

letter from the United States Department of Justice (the “DOJ”),  the Commission 

determined that interstate or foreign interactive gaming was unlikely be able to be 

conducted in compliance with all applicable laws and, in particular, federal laws. 

 

In the 2011 legislative session, Poker Stars proposed amending the Nevada interactive 

gaming statutes to, among other things, compel the Nevada State Gaming Control Board 

to draft and the Commission to adopt regulations for online poker.  Additionally, 

A.B.258(2011) proposed to prohibit Nevada’s gaming regulators from denying a license 

to anyone on the basis of their involvement in taking online wagers from U.S. residents 

prior to or while their application was pending.  The bill also would provide anyone 

seeking an online poker license that was denied and believed they were denied on the 

basis of prior wagering activity a right of judicial review.  These “minor” revisions had 

the potential to turn the regulatory system in Nevada on its head for an applicant like 

Poker Stars.  Unfortunately for Poker Stars, their CEO was mentioned in an indictment 

during the 2011 session, the bill was revised substantially, and the end result was that: 
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1. The Board was compelled to draft and the Commission was compelled to adopt 

online poker regulations (note this did not prohibit regulations on other games); 

and, 

2. The requirement that the Commission was required to determine that the activity 

could be conducted in compliance with all laws was removed. 

 

Other bills created a new class of interactive gaming license for service providers.  In 

2001, there were only two classes of interactive gaming license, an operator’s license and 

a manufacturer’s license.  This mirrored the land based world.  In the intervening 10 

years, interactive gaming matured, and specialists emerged in other jurisdictions that 

could be useful to Nevada operators, such as database providers, systems operators, 

hosting sites, affiliates, and security specialists to name a few. 

 

The bill passed, and Chairman Lipparelli of the Board set out in earnest to comply with 

the law.  He met the deadline to prepare regulations with one month to spare.  

Commission Chairman Bernhard took up the measure in December and the regulations 

were in place one month prior to the January 2012 deadline set by the Nevada 

Legislature.  At the time, there were some commentators that were concerned that 

Nevada was too far ahead as its Senior Senator and the only written statements by the 

DOJ seemed to indicate that interactive gaming, even on an intrastate basis would be 

viewed by federal law enforcement agencies as violating the Federal Wire Act.  

However, on December 23, 2011, the  DOJ released its opinion that the Federal Wire Act 

prohibitions only apply to sports wagering.   
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OPERATORS 

 

The essential requirements for being eligible to file an interactive gaming operator’s 

license application in Nevada are set forth in the table below:9 

 

Counties > 700,000 people10 Counties > 45,000 but less 
than 700,000 people 

Other counties 

• A resort hotel that holds a 
nonrestricted gaming license. 
o A resort hotel is any building 

or group of buildings that is 
maintained as and held out to 
the public to be a hotel where 
sleeping accommodations are 
furnished to the transient 
public and that has: 1.  More 
than 200 rooms available for 
sleeping accommodations; 2.  
At least one bar with 
permanent seating capacity 
for more than 30 patrons that 
serves alcoholic beverages 
sold by the drink for 
consumption on the premises; 
3.  At least one restaurant 
with permanent seating 
capacity for more than 60 
patrons that is open to the 
public 24 hours each day and 
7 days each week; and 4. A 
gaming area within the 
building or group of buildings. 

• Holds a nonrestricted 
gaming license 

• Has more than 120 
rooms available for 
sleeping 
accommodations 

• Has at least bar with 
permanent seating 
capacity for 20 patrons 
or more 

• Has at least one 24 
hour restaurant that 
holds 60 or more 
patrons 

• Has a gaming area of at 
least 18,000 square 
feet with at least 1600 
slot machines and 40 
table games. 

• Holds a 
nonrestricted 
gaming license 
that has been 
active for at 
least 5 years 

• Meets the 
definition of a 
Group 1 
licensee 
pursuant to 
Commission 
regulations 

• Operates 
either more 
than 50 rooms 
for sleeping 
accommodatio
ns or 50 
gaming 
devices. 

 

 
9 Affiliates of casino licensees that have held a non-restricted casino license for 5 years and meet the other 
criteria in the table may also be licensed as an interactive gaming operator.  Affiliate is defined in terms of 
common control. 
10 AB 545 changed the thresholds to 700,000 and 45,000.  This effectively places Clark County in a special 
top tier category and Washoe, Carson City, Lyon, Elko, Douglas, and possibly Nye Counties into a special 
mid-tier category. 
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Requirements for an iGaming License for A Clark County Nonrestricted Licensee 

 

The only statutory requirement is that the applicant in Clark County is a non-restricted 

licensee operating a resort hotel.  Pursuant to NRS 463.01865 , a resort hotel is any 

building or group of buildings that is maintained as and held out to the public to be a 

hotel where sleeping accommodations are furnished to the transient public and that has (i) 

at least 200 rooms available for sleeping accommodations, (2) has at least one bar with 

permanent seating capacity for more than 30 patrons that serves alcoholic beverages sold 

by the drink for consumption on the premises, (iii) has at least one restaurant with 

permanent seating capacity for more than 60 patrons that is open to the public 24 hours 

each day and 7 days each week; and (iv) a gaming area within the building(s). 

 

Requirements for an iGaming License for A Small County Nonrestricted Licensee 

 

The statute contemplates that non-restricted licensees, of sufficient size, in the smaller 

counties (those with a population under 45,000 people) may be qualified to apply for and 

hold an interactive gaming operator's license.  At first glance, the initial requirements 

appear modest in only requiring the following:  1. The applicant establishment must have 

held a non-restricted gaming license to operate games for at least five years prior to 

applying; 2. The establishment is a Group 1 licensee; and, 3. The establishment has at 

least 50 gaming devices or sleeping rooms.  However, pursuant to Gaming Regulation 

6.010 5, the Group 1 licensing requirement is steep, and currently requires the applicant 

to have gross revenue of $6,165,000 in the 12 months preceding the end of June 30, 2014.  
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This is mitigated a bit because any licensee that was deemed a Group 1 Licensee in the 

past retains such designation even if the licensee doesn't meet current revenue thresholds 

for a Group 1 Licensee. 
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Agreements/Compacts 

 

In the 2013 legislative session, the Nevada Legislature once again addressed the issue of 

interactive gaming.  This time the Legislature authorized the Governor to engage in the 

process of entering into agreements with other jurisdictions to permit the cross border 

acceptance of wagers between jurisdictions.  A bill was introduced, heard, debated and 

enacted all within 24 hours in a spirit of true non-partisan patriotic spirit.  The speed at 

which the bill moved also created an opportunity for the students at UNLV William S. 

Boyd School of Law to introduce a bill that exempted gaming conducted pursuant to an 

interjurisdictional agreement from Nevada’s criminal statutes against interstate gaming 

without a Nevada gaming license under NRS 465. 

 

IN February, 2014, the first interjurisdictional agreement was signed between Nevada 

and Delaware.  That agreement is as follows: 
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i  See U.S. v. Cohen, 260 F.3d 68 (2nd. Cir 2001). 
ii  See id. 
iii Sanabria v. United States, 437 U.S. 54 (1978). 
iv See, e.g., United States v. Merrell, 701 F.2d 53, 55 (6th Cir. 1983) cert. denied, 463 U.S. 
1230 (1983); United States v. Reeder, 614 F.2d 1179 (8th Cir. 1980).  
v United States v. Merrell, 701 F.2d 53, 55 (6th Cir. 1983) cert. denied, 463 U.S. 1230 
(1983). 
vi  
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